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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Fellow Shareholders:
2011 was a great year for WiLAN. It was a year in which we had a number of successes. New license
agreements dramatically increased our annual and booked revenue. Additions to our team expanded our
leadership, experience and expertise. Valuable patent acquisitions more than doubled the size of our portfolio.
A financing during the year substantially strengthened our balance sheet. Entering 2012, our foundation for
growth has never been stronger.
Early in 2011, WiLAN reached settlements with many marquis industry players, including Atheros,
Broadcom, Intel, Marvell and Motorola Mobility, to end a number of major litigations. These settlements
demonstrated the strength of our patent portfolio and our licensing capabilities.
License agreements signed in 2011 positioned WiLAN to generate hundreds of millions of dollars in future
revenues and contributed to 2011 revenues of over $105 million, more than double our 2010 revenue, and over
$71 million in adjusted earnings. During the year, WiLAN invested $19 million in cash to acquire valuable
technologies and returned over $13 million to shareholders in share buyback and dividend payments.
WiLAN’s balance sheet ended the year stronger than ever, aided by a $75 million funding round and the
generation of over $57 million from operations. In recognition of WiLAN’s strong balance sheet, significant
backlog and strong expected earnings going forward, the Board of Directors voted to increase WiLAN’s 2012
annual dividend by 20% to 12 cents per common share.
In 2011, a total of 19 companies licensed technologies in our patent portfolio, bringing our total number of
licensees to 258. We are particularly pleased that Cisco Systems signed a license renewal. That Cisco elected
to renew its license is a testament to the strength of WiLAN’s acquisition and intellectual property
development programs.
During the year our licensing team advanced negotiations with many companies. A number of prospective
licensees made financial offers to settle. While it may have been tempting for us to accept these offers and
significantly bolster our short-term financial performance, we did not accept them as we deemed the offers to
be insufficient and, ultimately, not in the best interest of our business.
In April 2011, we decided the time was right to list our shares on NASDAQ. Our first major litigations were
successfully behind us and our financial position was strong. On June 1, 2011, WiLAN “rang the bell” to
open NASDAQ and mark the first trading day of our shares on the NASDAQ Global Select Market. Our
NASDAQ listing has brought WiLAN to the attention of U.S.-based investors and by the end of December
2011, investors there held 13 of the 25 largest institutional ownership positions.
Through our Gladios IP subsidiary, WiLAN is partnering with individual and corporate IP owners who want
to retain ownership of their patents and generate licensing revenues, but who lack the expertise and resources
to do so. This valuable service to patent owners provides a means for WiLAN to generate additional revenue
with limited investment and downside risk.
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To date, Gladios IP has entered into licensing partnerships with seven organizations, including
Poynt Corporation and 01 Communique Labs. The seven portfolios cover a broad range of technologies
including Internet advertising, remote access technology, on-line gaming and mobile application technology.
In a sign that Gladios IP is gaining traction in the market, a number of well known global companies have
actively engaged us in partnership discussions.
We are getting down to the business of licensing our partner portfolios. In early 2012, WiLAN and partner
01 Communique Labs launched litigation against Bomgar Corporation, and additional litigations are likely to
be launched with other partners in the near future.
WiLAN has been rebuilt with the philosophy that companies in our business do better if they are well
capitalized, have an experienced team of licensing professionals and have a large patent portfolio. To this end,
we bolstered our leadership team with senior IP licensing, litigation management, patent management and
business development executives who will help refine our operations and drive future growth.
In 2011, WiLAN made a number of valuable patent acquisitions that strengthen our current licensing
programs. We acquired a portfolio of patents from Glenayre Corporation, a mobile communication
technology pioneer. The “Glenayre portfolio” covers aspects of mobile messaging and wireless data
transmission and reception that are very relevant to today’s mobile phone market. We also acquired over
1,400 digital TV and display patents, a purchase that more than doubled the size of our overall patent
portfolio.
WiLAN continued to invest in ground-breaking R&D in 2011. Our teams in Ottawa, Ontario and San Diego,
California, filed over 20 patents covering valuable inventions in next-generation Wi-Fi and LTE deployment
related technologies. We believe that these patented inventions will prove valuable to industry and have the
potential to add significant depth to our licensing programs in the future.
In August 2011, WiLAN’s Board of Directors initiated a process to acquire MOSAID Technologies Inc.
Combining WiLAN and MOSAID, companies with complementary patent portfolios, diverse licensing
programs and experienced teams, would have generated significant long-term value for WiLAN shareholders.
Thus, we believe attempting the acquisition was the right thing to do. Supporting our belief that acquiring
MOSAID would have represented value to WiLAN shareholders is the fact that MOSAID was acquired for a
significant premium over our final offer. While the acquisition attempt did not have the desired outcome, we
demonstrated our commitment to grow our business and be responsible stewards of our financial resources.
Achievements across all areas of our business have launched WiLAN into a new league. With a portfolio of
over 3,000 patents, a team of world-class professionals and a successful licensing and litigation track record,
WiLAN is among the largest IP licensing companies in the world. Operating our business and driving future
growth at this level demands more of us and necessitates that we introduce new ways of thinking about our
business.
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As the size of our portfolio and the strength of our key patents have increased, so too has the fair value of our
portfolio. Furthermore, the total licensing potential of our business is sure to increase over time as we add
more patents to our portfolio. With more at stake, licensing negotiations can take longer and be more
unpredictable. Negotiations also have a greater chance of ending unsuccessfully, without an agreement
signed. This means WiLAN may have to invest in more litigation. We need to scale our business to meet the
demands of more litigation and we must execute on strategies that seek to bring defendants to the table, for
serious settlement negotiations, in less time.
For all that WiLAN has accomplished to date, we have just begun. WiLAN has a plan to significantly
increase our revenues. We believe that our plan is realistic, though we recognize that it is dependent upon a
number of factors that are beyond our control. This revenue growth will come from our current licensing
programs, which could generate significant additional revenue, and from new licensing programs. We are
currently in litigation, with many industry giants including Apple, HTC, Alcatel-Lucent, LG, RIM, HP and
Dell, which we believe could generate hundreds of millions of dollars in future revenue. In addition, we
believe Gladios IP will make positive contributions to our business in coming years.
We will look to deliver strong earnings while making prudent investments in the protection of our patent
ownership rights, in our licensing capabilities, in our team and in the continued growth of our patent portfolio.
We will also look to optimize the value of our portfolio by selling non-core assets.
We would like to thank WiLAN’s employees and our Board of Directors for their continued dedication and
hard work. WiLAN could not have accomplished what it did in 2011 without the collective effort of our team,
one that is truly world-class. We would also like to take a moment to sincerely thank WiLAN’s shareholders
for their continued support.
Best regards,

Paul McCarten
Chairman of the Board
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INTRODUCTION
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is dated March 9, 2012. It should be read in conjunction with
the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for Wi-LAN Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2011
(the “Financial Statements”). References in this MD&A to “WiLAN,” “our company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to
Wi-LAN Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries during the periods presented unless the context requires otherwise. The
Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States of America (“U.S. GAAP” or “GAAP”) and applicable United States Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) regulations for annual financial information.
Effective January 1, 2011, we changed our primary basis of accounting to U.S. GAAP from Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles (“CDN GAAP”). We made the change to U.S. GAAP as a result of our listing on the NASDAQ
Global Select Market (“NASDAQ”) and to facilitate comparisons with our industry peers, all of whom are listed in the
United States and file their financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Previously, we prepared our
interim and audited financial statements in accordance with CDN GAAP and, with respect to our fiscal year ended
December 31, 2010, included a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP in the Audited Financial Statements.
Effective January 1, 2011, we determined that our functional currency had changed from the Canadian dollar to the U.S.
dollar (“USD”) as a result of the signing of significant license agreements in the first quarter and the listing of the
Company’s shares on NASDAQ subsequently. Concurrent with this change in functional currency, we adopted the USD
as our reporting currency. For presentation purposes, this change was effected for prior periods using the current rate
method as follows: assets and liabilities were translated into USD at the prevailing exchange rates at each balance sheet
date; revenues and expenses were translated at the average exchange rates prevailing during each reporting period; and
equity transactions were translated at the prevailing historical exchange rate at each transaction date. Unless otherwise
indicated, all financial information in this MD&A is reported in thousands of USD, with the exception of share and
earnings per share data which is reported in number of shares and USD respectively. The tables and charts included in
this document form an integral part of this MD&A.
We prepared this MD&A with reference to National Instrument 51-102 - Continuous Disclosure Obligations of the
Canadian Securities Administrators. Under the U.S./Canada Multijurisdictional Disclosure System, we are permitted to
prepare this MD&A in accordance with Canadian disclosure requirements which may differ from U.S. disclosure
requirements. This MD&A provides information for the year ended December 31, 2011 and up to and including
March 6, 2012. Additional information filed by us with the Canadian Securities Administrators, including quarterly
reports, annual reports and our annual information form for the year ended December 31, 2011, is available on-line at
www.sedar.com and also on our website at www.WiLAN.com. Our registration statement on Form 40-F can be found
on the SEC’s EDGAR website at www.sec.gov.
Our management is responsible for establishing appropriate information systems, procedures and controls to ensure that
all financial information disclosed externally, including this MD&A, and used internally by us, is complete and reliable.
These procedures include the review and approval of our financial statements and associated information, including this
MD&A, first by our management’s Disclosure Committee, then by our Board of Directors’ Audit Committee (the “Audit
Committee”) and, finally, by our Board of Directors as a whole (the “Board”).
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This MD&A contains forward-looking statements and forward-looking information within the meaning of the United
States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other applicable United States and Canadian securities laws,
including such statements relating to:
•

assumptions and expectations described in our critical accounting policies and estimates;

•

our expectation regarding the adoption and impact of certain accounting pronouncements;

•

our expectation regarding the growth rates of licensees’ businesses and the expected revenues to be collected
from such licensees;

•

our expectations with respect to revenues to be recorded as a consequence of license agreements with fixed
periodic payment structures;

•

our expectations with respect to the timing and amounts of any settlement agreements that may be entered into
with respect to any of our litigation matters;

•

our expectations with respect to our ability to sign new licenses and to sign renewal agreements with existing
licensees;

•

our estimates regarding our effective tax rate;

•

our expectations with respect to the sufficiency of our financial resources; and

•

our expectations regarding continued expansion of our patent portfolio through the acquisition of patents from
third parties and from the development of new inventions or our entry into licensing relationships with third
parties.

The words “expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “may”, “will”, “should”, “intend”, “believe”, “plan”, “continue”,
“anticipate”, “project” or the negative of these words or other variations on these words, comparable terms and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements and forward-looking information. Forward-looking
statements and forward-looking information are based on estimates and assumptions made by us in light of our
experience and its perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other
factors that we believe are appropriate in the circumstances.
We provide forward-looking statements and forward-looking information to assist external stakeholders in understanding
our management’s expectations and plans relating to the future as of the date of this MD&A and such statements and
information may not be appropriate for any other purposes. The forward-looking statements and forward-looking
information in this MD&A are made as of the date of this MD&A only. We have no intention and undertake no
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements or forward-looking information, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Many factors could cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or
implied by the forward-looking statements and forward-looking information, including, without limitation, the following
factors, which are discussed in greater detail under the heading “Risk Factors” in our Annual Information Form (“AIF”):
•

certain of our patents may be found to be invalid, unenforceable and/or not infringed by any specific third
party;

•

we may be required to establish the enforceability of our patents in court in order to obtain material licensing
revenues;

•

certain of our patents are, and others may be, subject to administrative proceedings that could invalidate or limit
the scope of those patents;

•

licensing our patents can take an extremely long time and may be subject to variable cycles;

•

we are currently reliant on licensees paying royalties under existing licensing agreements and on the additional
licensing of our patent portfolio to generate future revenues and increased cash flows;

•

reduced spending by consumers due to the uncertainty of economic and geopolitical conditions may negatively
affect us;

•

changes in patent or other applicable laws or in the interpretation or application of those laws could materially
adversely affect us;

•

fluctuations in foreign exchange rates impact and may continue to impact our revenues and operating expenses,
potentially adversely affecting financial results;

•

we will need to acquire or develop new patents to continue and grow our business;

•

we may not be able to compete effectively against others to acquire patent assets – any failure to compete
effectively could harm our business and results of operations;

•

we have made and may make future acquisitions of technologies or businesses which could materially adversely
affect us;

•

our acquisitions of patents are time consuming, complex and costly, which could adversely affect our operating
results;

•

our quarterly revenue and operating results can be difficult to predict and can fluctuate substantially;

•

we may require investment to translate our intellectual property position into sustainable profit in the market;

•

the generation of future V-Chip revenues and the likelihood of our signing additional V-Chip licenses could be
negatively impacted by changes in government regulation;

•

there can be no assurance as to the payment of future dividends;

•

our ability to recruit and retain management and other qualified personnel is crucial to our ability to develop,
market and license our patented technologies;
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•

the trading price of our common shares has been, and may continue to be, subject to large fluctuations;

•

as a foreign private issuer, we are subject to different United States securities laws and rules than a domestic
United States issuer, which may limit the information publicly available to our shareholders;

•

we may lose our United States “foreign private issuer” status in the future, which could result in significant
additional costs and expenses to us;

•

the financial reporting obligations of being a public company in the United States are expensive and time
consuming, and place significant additional demands on our management;

•

an investor may be unable to bring actions or enforce judgments against us and certain of our directors and
officers;

•

our actual financial results may vary from our publicly disclosed forecasts;

•

if at any time we are classified as a passive foreign investment company under United States tax laws, United
States holders of our common shares may be subject to adverse tax consequences;

•

the acquisition of, investment in, and disposition of our common shares has tax consequences;

•

substantial future sales of our common shares by existing shareholders, or the perception that such sales may
occur, could cause the market price of our common shares to decline, even if our business is doing well;

•

we may require additional capital in the future and no assurance can be given that such capital will be available
at all or available on terms acceptable to us;

•

certain Canadian laws could delay or deter a change of control; and

•

our authorized capital permits our directors to issue preferred shares which may prevent a takeover by a third
party.

These factors should be considered carefully, and readers should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking
statements and forward-looking information.

NON-GAAP DISCLOSURE
We use the term “adjusted earnings” to reference earnings from continuing operations before stock-based compensation
expense, depreciation & amortization expense, interest expense, unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses,
restructuring, incentive buy-out, success fee, transaction costs, investment income, debenture financing, provision for
income taxes, and certain other charges. We report adjusted earnings in the belief that it may be useful for certain
investors and readers of the financial statements as a measure of our performance. ADJUSTED EARNINGS IS NOT A
MEASURE OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE UNDER U.S. GAAP. It does not have any standardized meaning
prescribed by U.S. GAAP and is therefore unlikely to be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other
companies. ADJUSTED EARNINGS SHOULD NOT BE INTERPRETED AS AN ALTERNATIVE TO NET
EARNINGS AND CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATIONS AS DETERMINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH U.S. GAAP
OR AS A MEASURE OF LIQUIDITY.
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CORE BUSINESS AND STRATEGY
In mid-2006, we re-focused our business on technology innovation and licensing. At that time, we had twenty patents
which included certain patents we believed could be used in a licensing program. In launching the new form of business,
a key strategy was to strengthen the patent portfolio to sustain long term revenue opportunities and associated growth.
Over the past five years, we have grown our full time regular staff from 1 to 55, increased our patent portfolio from 20
patents to more than 3,000 issued or pending patents, signed more than 255 licensees, and grown our annual revenues
from just over $2 million to approximately $106 million in our 2011 fiscal year representing a compound annual growth
rate of more than 100%. As a result of the increase in the breadth and depth of our patent portfolio, we believe we have
more than 40 separate key patent families available to license. We define a patent family in this context as a patent or
family of patents that we have mapped to a particular product or industry standard.
During the first quarter of fiscal 2011, we signed license agreements with a number of large semiconductor companies
and several specific product vendors. These actions resulted in the dismissal of four of our significant litigations. We
believe these license agreements will, over the next several years, generate significant revenues.
Our principal source of revenue is from licensing our patent portfolio and licensing portfolios on behalf of third-party
patent holders. We plan to build upon our significant base of signed license agreements and increase our licensing
opportunities by growing our patent portfolio with a combination of technology innovation through internal research and
development, patent acquisitions, licensing relationships with patent holders, and corporate mergers and acquisitions.
We have licensed patents to companies that sell products utilizing Wi-Fi, WiMAX, LTE, CDMA, DSL, DOCSIS,
Bluetooth and V-Chip technologies.
Generally, our licensing agreements take into consideration rights to license the patents covered and past infringement.
Revenues may be lump-sum settlements for licensing rights and/or past infringement, fixed-price agreements that are
paid over a specified period of time or running royalties based on a price per-unit and/or a percentage of product sales or
service revenues enjoyed by licensees. Settlement of license agreements is generally made in cash, although we have in
the past and may in the future settle license agreements with a combination of cash and in-kind patents. We may consider
in-kind patents if the patents fit our value proposition and strategic objectives.
Royalty rates and the consideration for a license may vary significantly with different licensees since there are many
factors that may make differing terms appropriate. Factors that may affect our royalty rates may include: the clarity of the
reads of patent claims on the products of the prospective licensee; the significance of the patented invention to the
performance of such products; the strength of any prior art that could invalidate the patents; the profitability of the
products in question; the propensity of the prospective licensee to resist taking a license or to litigate; the number of
patents that are applicable; the volume of products that infringe; the geographies into which infringing products are
manufactured and sold; the prospective licensee’s future sales plans; and the prospective licensee’s financial status.
Notwithstanding early success in many areas, the United States and foreign environment for patent licensing companies
such as ours has become increasingly difficult during the past several years due to legal developments. In this more
difficult licensing environment, we will continue to adapt and evolve to achieve success. Recent examples of our
evolution include the hiring of highly qualified specialists and subject matter experts in the applicable technologies,
acquisition of patents that have strengthened our patent portfolio and multiple financing deals that have significantly
strengthened our financial position. As well, we recently signed significant license agreements with large industry
leaders. We believe these recent accomplishments have established a strong foundation for our future operations and
growth.
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KEY STRATEGIC INITIATIVES
Technology Innovation
Building on our history of technology innovation which directly contributed to the commercialization of broadband
wireless products more than a decade ago, we continue to engage in research and development (“R&D”) activities.
Our internal R&D efforts seek to generate new inventions in next generation communications technologies and to
identify new technology/commercial product opportunities. With the goal of growing and strengthening our intellectual
property portfolio, this technology innovation complements our ongoing activities to jointly license or acquire
appropriate technology.

Licensing Capability Growth
Our licensing activities are carried out by a dedicated team of professionals including licensing executives and technical
experts. The centralization of licensing activities allows us to license any portion of our patent portfolio, thereby
achieving maximum value for our intellectual property. Growth of the team capability and expertise in technology, legal
and patent domains will be managed on an ongoing basis taking into account our financial and operating performance.

Licensing Process Execution
We believe our licensing program has delivered significant results. To date, more than 255 companies have licensed one
or more of our patented technologies including companies such as ASUSTeK Computer Inc., Atheros Communications,
Inc. (“Atheros”), Broadcom Corporation (“Broadcom”), CSR plc (“CSR”), Fujitsu Microelectronics America, Inc. and
its affiliates (“Fujitsu”), Hon Hai Precision Co., Ltd., Infineon Technologies AG (“Infineon”), Intel Corporation (“Intel”),
LG Electronics, Inc. (“LG”), Marvell Semiconductor, Inc. (“Marvell”), Motorola Mobility Holdings, Inc., Motorola
Solutions, Inc., NEC Corporation, Nikon Corporation, Nokia Corporation (“Nokia”), Panasonic Corporation, Research In
Motion Limited, Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd. and Sharp Corporation.
Complementing our determination to reach license agreements through negotiation is our resolve to receive fair
compensation for the use of our patented technologies. We are prepared to take all necessary steps, including investing
in litigation, to ensure we receive fair value for the use of our patented technologies. We have launched several
litigations and have responded to several actions filed against us, all in the areas of patent infringement. Although we
cannot anticipate how any litigation will affect ongoing settlement discussions, we believe it is likely that settlement
discussions with parties named in a legal action will continue and some parties may be inclined to take licenses.

KEY PERFORMANCE DRIVERS
Markets
Our licensing performance is driven by our ability to license the technologies covered by our patents.
We expect to continue to generate virtually all of our revenues from licensing our patent portfolio and other technologies.
We currently have a portfolio of more than 3,000 patents, including issued and pending patents and foreign equivalents,
many of which we have licensed to companies that sell products that utilize the following technologies including: Wi-Fi;
CDMA; WiMAX; LTE; ADSL; DOCSIS; Bluetooth; and V-Chip.
The Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc. (the “IEEE”) is a professional organization that sets standards
for many types of electronic equipment. As an example, for the Wi-Fi market, the IEEE has issued standards 802.11 a, b,
g and n regarding the operation of that equipment. Similarly, IEEE standards 802.16 d and e define operations standards
for WiMAX equipment.
Wi-Fi is a wireless technology standard that permits enabled devices to connect to the Internet through a wireless
network, all based on IEEE 802.11 a, b, g or n protocols. Many consumer devices including personal computers, routers,
gaming devices and peripheral devices rely on Wi-Fi protocols to connect to the Internet.
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CDMA is one of the two main cellular technologies that most cellular phone systems currently utilize and has a very
strong position in the North American market and in many Asian and Caribbean nations. UMTS (Universal Mobile
Telecommunications System) technology and its HSPA (High-Speed Packet Access) evolution, which are both
CDMA-based, is the other main technology currently used in cellular phones.
WiMAX, based on IEEE 802.16 standards, is a framework for wireless communication that permits high-throughput
broadband connections over long distances. WiMAX can be used for a variety of wireless applications including
high-speed connectivity for computers and cellular phones.
LTE is a high performance air interface for cellular mobile communications systems competing with WiMAX for
adoption by many wireless service providers worldwide as the next evolution in cellular phone technology. With the
increase in “smart phone” penetration rates and the desire to share in the roaming revenues of out-of-network cellular
phone users, many wireless service providers are working to move to a common air interface standard to promote
interoperability.
ADSL is the most common method of providing high-speed Internet access over conventional telephone wiring,
currently representing about two-thirds of the global market for broadband network access. We acquired US, Japanese
and European ADSL and other telecommunications patent families from Nokia and Fujitsu.
DOCSIS is a standard that governs high-speed data transfer on cable networks and is used in most cable modem
deployments in North America to provide high-speed Internet access, and in many digital set-top boxes to enable
pay-per-view and on-demand television viewing features.
Bluetooth is a wireless protocol for exchanging data over short distances between fixed and mobile devices that provides
a way to connect and exchange information between devices such as mobile phones, laptop computers, digital cameras
and other electronics equipment.
V-Chip technology permits television receivers to block programming based on ratings carried with the broadcast signal
as detected by a television receiver that has been programmed by parents who wish to manage their children’s television
viewing. V-Chip technology has been mandated by the US Federal Communications Commission to be included in all
devices capable of receiving a television signal other than televisions having a screen size of thirteen inches or less.
We continue to evaluate all of the patents in our portfolio to determine whether they may be applicable to other
technology and product areas.
The Wi-Fi, CDMA, WiMAX, LTE, ADSL, DOCSIS, Bluetooth and V-Chip markets with respect to which we have
licensed many of our patents to date are large, multi-million or multi-billion dollar markets. Independent estimates of the
size of the markets, based on the equipment-level sales in the calendar years noted, are as follows:
•

Wi-Fi – 2011 North American sales of approximately 91 million notebook, netbook and tablet computers,
$3.4 billion in worldwide Wi-Fi network infrastructure, and growing to include mobile handsets, portable media
players, televisions, Blue-ray disc players, etc. (sources: DisplaySearch; Dell’Oro);

•

US CDMA – 2011 mobile CDMA and WCDMA handset sales of approximately 118 million units and base
station sales of approximately $7.4 billion (sources: Strategy Analytics; Dell’Oro);

•

WiMAX – worldwide sales over $1.4 billion in 2011 and expected to grow at a compound annual growth rate of
11% from 2011 to 2015 (source: Dell’Oro);

•

LTE – infrastructure sales of over $7.7 billion expected for 2015, a 86% compounded annual growth rate over
the USD$351 million in 2010 sales (source: Dell’Oro);
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•

ADSL – ADSL equipment sales are expected to average over $4 billion annually for the next two years, with the
subscriber base growing 8% over that period (sources: Dell’Oro);

•

DOCSIS – US sales of approximately 14 million cable modems and $625 million in cable modem termination
systems sales in 2011 (source: Dell’Oro);

•

Bluetooth – worldwide Bluetooth semiconductor revenue going from $1.7 billion in 2007 to $3.3 billion by
2012, with approximately 70% of all mobile handsets having Bluetooth functionality by 2012 (source: IDC);
and

•

V-Chip – sales of approximately 45.8 million digital televisions in North America in 2011, a growth rate of
4.1% over the previous year (source: DisplaySearch.com).

Financial Condition
Our financial strength, measured in terms of maintaining a solid balance sheet with strong cash reserves, is a critical
element in our ability to execute on our strategy of signing patent licensing agreements. Financial strength is also critical
to facilitate strengthening our patent portfolio through patent acquisitions, entering into licensing relationships,
generating patents on internally developed technology, and engaging in litigation when required. In addition to our
balance sheet, we consider our backlog of signed license agreements, measured in a weighted average life remaining term
to be an important element of financial condition. Based on the more than 255 licenses signed as of December 31, 2011
we believe our weighted average life remaining of signed licenses is more than five years.
Financial strength is important when we engage in litigation in order to enforce our intellectual property rights since
litigation costs are often significant. We believe that maintaining a substantial cash reserve is an important factor in
convincing companies to enter into agreements and avoid protracted litigation. Further, companies that are inclined to
enter litigation with us need to understand our ability and resolve to carry these litigations through to completion.

Professional and Systematic Approach to Patent Licensing
A professional and systematic approach to patent licensing is essential to achieve success. We have developed our
approach over several years and that approach is founded in a strong understanding of patent law, detailed infringement
determinations, and fair and reasonable licensing terms. We believe that our internal technical resources, supported by a
network of external advisors, are a fundamental element in a successful licensing program as discussions with potential
licensees quickly address technical issues. This approach has been very successful for us as we have signed more than
255 licensees since mid-2006. We believe that this approach can be utilized for any new technology markets that we
may choose to enter.

Technology Development
We have a rich history of technology development and continue to have an active R&D program. Our in-house R&D
focuses on the development of advanced technologies that may have licensing applications in the future. By focusing on
anticipating problems with the adoption of new technologies, and developing patented solutions to these problems, we
can continue to expand our overall licensing programs.

Wi-LAN Inc. 2011 Annual Report

13

MD&A

CAPABILITY TO DELIVER RESULTS
We believe we are well positioned to deliver continued strong financial performance due to our strong and growing
patent portfolio, professional and systematic approach to licensing intellectual property, management team, track record
of signing patent license agreements, significant base of signed agreements and solid financial position.

Strength of Patent Portfolio and Ability to Derive Value from Patents
As a result of patent acquisitions, licensing relationships and internal technology development, our patent portfolio has
continued to grow in numbers, technological diversity and breadth of geographic coverage. As of December 31, 2011, we
own more than 3,000 patents and applications as compared with more than 1,300 at the end of fiscal 2010. The
geographic and technological diversity of our patent portfolio helps to ensure that we will be able to garner royalties
applicable to worldwide product sales.
As noted elsewhere in this MD&A, the weighted average life remaining for our current license agreements is more than
five years, meaning we expect to collect revenues from these agreements for, on average, an additional five years
although not necessarily equally year to year.

Patent Licensing Methodology
We have developed a methodology for our licensing programs that has yielded strong results since mid 2006 having
generated cumulative revenues to the end of 2011 of more than $277,000. When approaching a potential licensee, we
present compelling reasons to enter into a license agreement with detailed infringement analysis along with a fair and
reasonable license rate. In many circumstances, we also present the potential licensee with a broad array of patents or
families that may be applicable to the licensee thus increasing their risk of not signing a license. If the licensing
discussions are stalled or abandoned, we may pursue the protection of our intellectual property through litigation.
Without the willingness and capability to enforce patent rights through the courts, a licensing program may not gain
credibility and traction in the market. We understand this dynamic and are prepared to use the court system to enforce
our rights.

Patent Administration
Our licensing success depends on having a quality portfolio of patents that are not only technically valuable, but are
properly filed and maintained in appropriate jurisdictions. We devote a significant effort to the administration of our
patent portfolio, ensuring any applications filed reflect the quality required in a licensing program. We maintain a
carefully balanced mix of internal and external patent administration resources to optimize patent quality.

Workforce and Management
We employ individuals with unique skill sets and proven abilities to conclude patent license agreements. This is
important, since strong patents are only part of what is needed to derive substantial revenues from a patent portfolio.
Having expertise in the relevant markets, in patent portfolio development, and in patent licensing and litigation are as
critical as having good patents. Our reputation and expertise, together with our proven ability to negotiate license
agreements and litigate, if necessary, all contribute significantly to our ability to deliver patent licensing results.
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Financial Strength
A strong financial position is an important underpinning for our success. We maintained a cash, cash equivalents, and
short-term investments balance throughout the year ending December 31, 2011 of more than $192,000. Through that
same period, completed a bought deal financing with net cash proceeds of approximately $71,992, acquired patents with
a value of $19,753, issued 6.0% extendible convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (“Debentures”) pursuant to an
indenture (the “Indenture”) dated September 8, 2011 between WiLAN and Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as
trustee with net cash proceeds of approximately $227,000 and returned $10,668 to shareholders through dividends. We
achieved these results while financing our current operations including our significant litigation investments. As at
December 31, 2011, we have a cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments balance of $433,710. On
November 1 ,2011, our offer to purchase all the issued and outstanding shares of MOSAID Technologies Incorporated
(“MOSAID”) expired as the initial take up of 66 2/3% of the outstanding shares of MOSAID was not achieved. As a
result, the maturity date of the Debentures was January 31, 2012. For the year ended December 31, 2011, we repurchased
$1,535 worth of Debentures under a normal course issuer bid commenced on November 11, 2011 through the facilities of
the TSX. On January 31, 2012, we repaid in cash the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Debentures of
CDN $228,456 and accrued and unpaid interest of CDN $5,445. For the year ended December 31, 2011, we repurchased
527,700 common shares for a total of $2,871 under a normal course issuer bid commenced on December 15, 2011
through the facilities of the TSX.
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RESULTS AND OUTLOOK
Overall performance
This MD&A discusses our performance for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.

Revenue
Royalties
Brokerage

Year ended December 31,
2011
$000's
%

Year ended December 31,
2010
$000's
%

$

$

Operating expenses
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Marketing, general and administrative
Realized foreign exchange (gain) loss
Unrealized foreign exchange loss
Transaction costs
Restructuring charges
Total operating expenses
Earnings (loss) from operations
Investment income
Interest expense
Debenture financing, net
Earnings (loss) before income taxes
Provision for (recovery of) income tax expense
Current
Future
Provision for (recovery) of income tax expense

104,813
996
105,809

99
1
100

45,557
3,679
49,236

93
7
100

27,012
7,792
65,749
(1,958)
2,997
3,044
104,636
1,173

26
7
62
(2)
3
3
99
1

26,103
3,965
37,462
230
4
726
68,490
(19,254)

53
8
76
1
139
(39)

5,654
(4,218)
20,747
23,356

5
(4)
20
22

683
(18,571)

1
(38)

3,275
(11,716)
(8,441)

3
(11)
(8)

3,041
3,041

30

Net earnings (loss)

$

31,797

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic
Diluted

$

0.26
0.25

Weighted average number of common shares
Basic
Diluted

122,741,326
124,999,644

$

(21,612)

$

(0.21)
(0.21)

6
6
(44)

103,289,548
103,289,548

•

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011 were $105,809 representing an increase of $56,573 or 115%
over the year ended December 31, 2010;

•

Operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 were $104,636 which represents an increase of
$36,146 or 53% as compared to the year ended December 31, 2010; and

•

Net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2011 were $31,797 or $0.26 per basic share and $0.25 per diluted
share as compared to a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2010 of $21,612 or $0.21 per basic and diluted
share. Net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2011 included benefits of $10,142 as a result of the
reversal of a portion of our valuation allowance related to our deferred tax assets.
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The table below reconciles the net earnings to the adjusted earnings we have reported.
Year ended December 31,
2011
$000's

Year ended December 31,
2010
$000's

$

31,797

$

(21,612)

Adjusted for:
Unrealized foreign exchange loss
Depreciation and amortization
Stock based compensation
Restructuring charges
Incentive buy-out
Success fee
Other
Interest expense
Transaction costs
Investment income
Debenture financing, net
Income tax (recovery) expense
Adjusted earnings

$

2,997
22,785
4,228
7,102
27,986
285
4,218
3,044
(3,733)
(20,747)
(8,441)
71,521

$

4
20,796
1,835
726
3,041
4,790

Adjusted earnings per basic share

$

$

0.05

Net earnings (loss) under GAAP

Weighted average number of common shares
Basic
Diluted

0.58

122,741,326
124,999,644

103,289,548
103,289,548

The adjusted earnings for the year ended December 31, 2011 were $71,521 as compared to $4,790 for the year ended
December 31, 2010. The increase in adjusted earnings for the year ended December 31, 2011 is primarily attributable to
the increase in revenue and a decrease in litigation expenses.

Revenues
Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011 were $105,809 representing an increase of $56,573 or 115% over the
year ended December 31, 2010.

Revenues
Increase from previous year

$

Year ended
December 31, 2011

Year ended
December 31, 2010

$000's

$000's
105,809

$

49,236

115%

Our revenues are derived from four principal sources: (i) running royalty agreements pursuant to which licensees pay us
royalties based on either a percentage of the net selling price of licensed products or a fixed fee per licensed product sold;
(ii) fixed fee royalties consisting of a set quarterly or annual amount for all licensed products sold by licensees;
(iii) one-time lump sum fees to cover the sale of all licensed products by a particular licensee, subject to certain
limitations; or (iv) the outright sale of patents providing the acquirer exclusive rights to the technology (“Brokerage”).
License agreements are generally for a five to eight year period but can be significantly longer. We consider revenue to
be earned when we have persuasive evidence of an arrangement, all obligations that we need to perform have been
fulfilled in accordance with the terms of the license agreement, including delivery and acceptance, the revenue amount is
reasonably determinable and collection is reasonably assured.
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Revenues can vary significantly from quarter to quarter depending upon the type of royalty arrangement with licensees,
the timing of royalty reporting by licensees, the cyclical nature of licensees’ markets and fluctuations in foreign currency
and other factors. Revenues can fluctuate based on individual licensees’ growth and success rates in their respective
markets, and other market factors on their respective businesses and other factors outside of our control. The impact of
these factors may become less significant in the future given the significant fixed license agreements signed during the
first six months of fiscal 2011. See “Risk Factors” contained in the AIF for more detailed information.
Revenue is comprised as follows:
Year ended
December 31, 2011

Year ended
December 31, 2010

Royalties

99%

Brokerage

1%

93%
7%

100%

100%

One licensee accounted for more than 10% of revenues from royalties for the year ended December 31, 2011, whereas
three licensees each accounted for more than 10% of revenues from royalties for year ended December 31, 2010. For the
year ended December 31, 2011, the top ten licensees accounted for 77% of revenues from royalties, whereas in the
comparable period last year the top ten licensees accounted for 75% of revenues from royalties.
One customer accounted for 100% of the revenues from Brokerage for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
pursuant to the sale of certain wireless patents. We may sell patents from our portfolio when we believe the revenue from
an outright sale of patents is greater than what can be derived from licensing the patents.

Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue includes all costs associated with our patent licensing activities including any third-party royalty
payments required under royalty arrangements, staff costs, and other costs incurred in conducting license negotiations as
well as amortization expense related to acquired patents. We also include, as a cost of revenue, any business
development costs related to sourcing new patent portfolios or developing new strategic partnerships.

Cost of revenue

$

Amortization of patents

$000's

$000's
4,619

$

27,012
26%

5,430
20,250

748
$

Percent of revenue

Year ended
December 31, 2010

21,645

Stock-based compensation

Increase from previous year

Year ended
December 31, 2011

423
$

26,103
53%

3%

Cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $27,012 or 26% of revenues as compared to $26,103 or 53%
of revenues for the previous year. The increase in expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011, over last year is
primarily attributable to amortization expense as a result of patent acquisitions we completed during fiscal 2010 and
2011, partially offset by lower third party royalty payments. In general, patent licensing expenses are proportional to the
breadth and depth of our licensing and patent brokerage programs and should be expected to increase as we add
programs to our business operations.
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A key element of our strategy involves acquiring additional patents or obtaining exclusive licensing arrangements
through relationships with patent holders that may be accounted for as acquisitions. Any further acquisitions will
increase amortization expense from our current levels. We have acquired approximately $193,000 in patents since
November 1, 2006.

Research and development expense

Research and development

$

Year ended
December 31, 2011

Year ended
December 31, 2010

$000's

$000's
6,805

$

3,668

Depreciation

250

26

Stock-based compensation

737

271

$
Percent of revenue
Increase from previous year

7,792
7%

$

3,965
8%

97%

We designed, developed and sold or licensed a variety of advanced digital wireless technologies, systems and products
since our inception in the early 1990s until 2006. Over the course of our history, our strength has been our ability to
explore emerging technologies, identify needs created by the development of advanced wireless systems and build
technologies for those new requirements. Today, we are focusing our R&D efforts on advanced wireless technologies
and, in particular, on technologies applicable to the use of whitespace frequencies (those previously occupied by analog
television broadcast signals) for broadband access and LTE base station applications. These efforts have fostered
inventions that form the basis of a number of new patent applications. The costs associated with these efforts, principally
staff costs (including stock based compensation) and certain external consultants, are classified as R&D.
We also consider the expenses related to the management of our patent portfolio as R&D costs because they directly
relate to our most important asset, our patents. The management of our patent portfolio involves filing patent
applications, prosecuting applications to obtain issued patents, documenting infringement, assessing validity of issued
patents, conducting due diligence on patents and applications to be acquired and other general administrative tasks.
Many of these costs are directly related to the size and depth of our patent portfolio.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, R&D expenses were $7,792 as compared to $3,965 for the year ended
December 30, 2010. The increase in spending is primarily attributable to the increased level of staff employed (from
seven to seventeen) in the two principal R&D initiatives noted above and increased costs associated with the size and
breadth of our patent portfolio.
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Marketing, general and administration expense

Marketing, general and administrative costs

$

Year ended
December 31, 2011

Year ended
December 31, 2010

$000's

$000's
8,353

Litigation expense

17,478

Litigation expense - success fee

27,986

Incentive costs

$

-

8,733

Depreciation
Stock-based compensation
$

5,645
29,170
985

456

521

2,743

1,141

65,749

Percent of revenue

62%

Increase from previous year

76%

$

37,462
76%

Marketing, general and administrative (“MG&A”) expenses represent the cost of litigation and corporate services
including facilities, executive management, finance, corporate legal, human resources, office administration, marketing
and communications, information technology and all costs associated with being a public company. For the year ended
December 31, 2011, MG&A expenses amounted to $65,749 or 62% of revenues as compared to $37,462 or 76% of
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase in spending for the year ended December 31, 2011 is due
to the accrual of the $27,986 success fee payable to our lawyers McKool Smith related to the licensing agreements and
settlements signed to date, and incentive costs related to the increase in revenues and the accrual of the one-time payment
of $7,102 related to the incentive buy-out of the Chief Executive Officer’s contracted right to 2% of gross revenues as a
result of the amendment of his employment agreement.
Non-litigation related MG&A costs increased for the year ended December 31, 2011 primarily due to the accrual of
variable compensation costs related to employee bonuses and restricted share units of $793, staff cost of $904 and public
company related costs of $819 as a result of our listing on NASDAQ.
Non-litigation related MG&A costs will vary from period to period depending on activities and initiatives undertaken,
and changes in staffing levels in any given period.
Our litigation expenses consists of all expenses related to the management and conduct of our litigation activities and
include the costs of internal resources assigned to the litigation management function, external legal counsel and third
party costs including those of expert witnesses and other service providers required during the course of litigations.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, litigation expenses (excluding the success fee) amounted to $17,478 compared to
$29,170 for the same period last year. The decrease in litigation expenses is a result of the various settlements we
entered into during fiscal 2011. Litigation expenses are expected to vary from period to period due to the variability of
litigation activities and are expected to increase significantly in fiscal 2012 given the level of litigation matters that are
currently active.
Our Texas patent enforcement actions accounted for approximately 63% and our New York action accounted for
approximately 10% of our litigation spending for the year ended December 31, 2011. Our Texas patent enforcement
actions accounted for approximately 75% and our New York action accounted for 9% of our litigation spending for the
same period last year. The decrease in the Texas patent enforcement is a result of the settlements we entered into during
fiscal 2011.
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In the course of our normal operations, we are subject to claims, lawsuits and contingencies. Accruals are made in
instances where it is probable that liabilities may be incurred and where such liabilities can be reasonably estimated.
Although it is possible that liabilities may be incurred in instances for which no accruals have been made, we have no
reason to believe that the ultimate outcome of these matters would have a significant impact on our consolidated financial
position.
In certain of our patent infringement litigations we have been represented by the law firm of McKool Smith
(“McKools”). Pursuant to our engagement with McKools, in consideration for a discount on fees, we have agreed to pay
McKools a success fee based on achieving certain minimum financial measures. Upon achieving these financial
measures, McKools will be entitled to receive a percentage of the proceeds actually received from these litigations up to
a maximum of $27,986. Pursuant to the license agreements and settlements relating to these litigations signed to date, we
have collected and expect to collect proceeds from these litigations over the next five years. Should we collect these
amounts as contemplated in the agreements, McKools will be entitled to the entire success fee. During the fourth quarter
management evaluated the expected liability and determined that the full amount of the success fee obligation should be
accrued.
On January 10, 2010, we commenced an action against LG Electronics, Inc. (“LG”) and LG Electronics U.S.A., Inc.
(collectively, “LGE”) in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York. We have claimed that LGE has
breached its contract with us and infringed our U.S. patent number 5,828,402 (the “402 patent”) with respect to
televisions sold by LGE in the United States. On August 2, 2011, we announced that U.S. Magistrate Judge Peck had
made certain non-binding recommendations to U.S. District Court Judge Kaplan in this case with respect to certain
summary judgment motions made by LGE and the Company including recommending that a determination of noninfringement by LGE be made with respect to the 402 patent, to which recommendations we objected in August 2011.
On March 7, 2012, Judge Kaplan adopted most of the Magistrate Judge’s recommendations and ruled that LGE did not
infringe the 402 patent on a claim construction issue and granted LGE’s motion for summary judgment against WiLAN.
The ruling is limited to only LGE products with respect to patent infringement and does not apply to the validity of the
402 patent nor does it make any determinations regarding validity of the 402 patent. We remain confident of the validity
of the 402 patent and its wide applicability to the industry; we are further studying Judge Kaplan’s ruling and expect to
file an appeal in the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit in due course.
On October 5, 2010, we filed claims against 11 major companies including Alcatel-Lucent USA Inc., Ericsson Inc.,
Sony Ericsson Mobile Communications (USA) Inc., HTC Corporation (“HTC”) and LGE in the EDTX Court. We have
claimed that these companies have infringed and continue to infringe our U.S. patent numbers 6,088,326, 6,195,327,
6,222,819 and 6,381,211 by making and/or selling various products including wireless communications products that use
technology derived from these patents which relate to the 3GPP standard. On December 23, 2010, we announced that we
had settled all wireless patent litigation against LGE including this action. This case continues through the discovery
phase.
On February 2, 2011, we filed claims against HTC in the EDTX Court. We have claimed that HTC has infringed and
continues to infringe the 222 patent and the 802 patent by making and/or selling various products including mobile
handheld devices and other equipment that use technology derived from these patents which relate to Wi-Fi and CDMA.
This case continues through the discovery phase.
In September, 2011, we, our subsidiary Gladios IP Inc. (“Gladios”) and one of its officers, Paul Lerner, were sued by
General Patent Corporation (“GPC”) before the SDNY Court alleging, among other things, breach of contract, fraud and
misappropriation of trade secrets by us with respect to our proposed acquisition of GPC. We, Gladios and Mr. Lerner
deny any liability to GPC in this matter. At a motion brought by GPC for a preliminary injunction to enjoin Mr. Lerner
from working for us or Gladios, which motion was joined with a trial on whether or not GPC had any trade secrets to be
a subject of this matter, U.S. District Court Judge Keenan of the SDNY Court denied the motion and determined that
GPC had no such trade secrets. GPC has appealed this decision to the United States Court of Appeal for the Second
Circuit, against which appeal we, Gladios and Mr. Lerner are defending. While the appeal is continuing, the matter in
chief is proceeding towards its discovery phase and the filing of summary judgment motions.
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On September 1, 2011, we filed claims against Apple Inc., Alcatel-Lucent USA Inc., Dell Inc., Hewlett-Packard
Company, HTC America, Inc., Kyocera International, Inc., Kyocera Communications, Inc., Novatel Wireless, Inc. and
Sierra Wireless America, Inc. in the EDTX Court. We have claimed that these companies have infringed and continue to
infringe the 222 patent and the 802 patent by making and/or selling various wireless communications products including
modems, personal computers and mobile phones that use technology derived from these patents which relate to CDMA,
HSPA, Wi-Fi and LTE technologies.
On January 23, 2012, we filed claims against Research In Motion Limited and Research In Motion Corporation before
the SDFL Court. We have claimed that these companies have infringed and continue to infringe the 369 patent and our
U.S. patent number 6,232,969 by making and/or selling various wireless communications products.
On December 24, 2009, a law firm filed a request for ex parte re-examination at the U.S. Patents and Trademarks Office
(the “USPTO”) in respect of the 402 patent. We do not know the identity of the real party in interest who made this
re-examination request. On March 2, 2010, the USPTO granted this request and issued an office action on August 4,
2010 relating to this request. On October 29, 2010, we filed an amendment/response to this re-examination request which
included 49 new patent claims under the 402 patent. We expect this re-examination process could continue for
approximately 18 to 24 months. The 402 patent remains valid and enforceable unless and until a final contrary
determination has been made by the USPTO and all appeal rights have been exhausted.
On January 21, 2010, Broadcom Corporation and Intel filed a request for inter parties re-examination at the USPTO in
respect of the 759 patent. In January 2011, we announced that we settled all litigation against Broadcom Corporation and
Intel, in accordance with which, Broadcom Corporation and Intel had each withdrawn from their respective involvement
in this re-examination. On November 10, 2011, we announced that the USPTO had confirmed the validity of all key
claims in the 759 patent and also allowed more than 100 new claims in that patent.

Realized foreign exchange gain/loss

Realized foreign exchange (gain) loss

Year ended
December 31, 2011

Year ended
December 31, 2010

$000's

$000's

$

(1,958)

Percent of revenue

$

230

-2%

Decrease from comparative period

0%

NM*

* NM - percentage is not meaningful as the change is too large

Our realized foreign exchange gain represents the gain on unhedged transactions denominated in currencies other than
our functional currency, U.S. dollars.

Unrealized foreign exchange gain/loss

Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss
Percent of revenue
Increase from comparative period

$

Year ended
December 31, 2011

Year ended
December 31, 2010

$000's

$000's
2,997
3%

$

4
0%

NM*

* NM - percentage is not meaningful as the change is too large
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Our unrealized foreign exchange loss for the year ended December 31, 2011 was attributable to the revaluation of our
Canadian dollar denominated cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, and convertible debenture as a result of the decrease in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the
U.S. dollar over the reporting period.
We cannot accurately predict foreign exchange movements and as such, cannot accurately predict future gains and losses
related to holding assets and liabilities in currencies other than U.S. dollars.

Investment income
Our recorded investment income for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $5,654 as compared to $683 for the year
ended December 31, 2010. Investment income includes interest earned on deposits and short-term investments, as well
as, gains on equity holdings. For the year ended December 31, 2011, investment income included gains on equity
holdings of $3,733. The increase in investment income is attributable to gains on equity holdings and increased cash
position and increased yields available on our cash deposits and short-term investments.

Interest expense and debenture financing costs
We issued Debentures on September 8, 2011 and September 12, 2011 related to our offer to purchase all of the issued
and outstanding shares of MOSAID, and for the year ended December 31, 2011 recognized interest expense, in addition
to the accretion noted below, of $4,218 based on the coupon rate of 6.0%.

Accretion of debt discount

$

Extinguishment of conversion feature

Year ended
December 31, 2011

Year ended
December 31, 2010

$000's

$000's
41,737

$

(66,679)

Amortization of financing costs

-

4,195
$

(20,747)

-

$

-

The conversion feature of our Debentures was treated as a derivative financial instrument and was recorded at its fair
value as a liability as it was not considered to be indexed to our shares because the exercise price is denominated in
Canadian dollars and not the Company’s U.S. dollar functional currency. Accordingly the proceeds from the offering of
the Debentures were bifurcated between the convertible debenture and conversion feature of the debentures based on the
relative fair values of the two components on the date of issuance. On the date of issuance, the relative fair values of the
two components were estimated to be approximately $163,882 and $68,778, respectively. The fair value for the
convertible debt component was estimated using an interest rate of 9.0% which was based on the estimated interest rates
of similar debt instruments excluding the conversion feature.
The fair value for the conversion feature component was determined using Black-Scholes model, with the following
assumptions:

Risk free interest rate
Volatility
Expected option life (in years)
Dividend yield

2.8%
63%
5.0
1.0%

The conversion feature was recorded as a liability and was re-measured at fair value as a liability at each subsequent
balance sheet date up to its extinguishment as discussed below. Any change in value was recorded as unrealized
gain/loss.
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The related initial debt discount of approximately $68,778 is amortized using the effective interest method over the
estimated life of the Debentures.
The costs associated with the issuance of the debt were allocated to the Debentures and the conversion feature of the
Debentures. The financing costs allocated to the Debentures were capitalized and were being amortized over the
estimated term of the Debentures being five years from the date of issue. The financing costs allocated to conversion
feature were recorded as a period expense for the year ended December 31, 2011.
On November 1, 2011, our offer to purchase all the issued and outstanding MOSAID shares expired as the initial take up
of 66 2/3% of the outstanding shares of MOSAID was not achieved. In accordance with the terms of the Indenture, as
there was no take up of the outstanding shares of MOSAID, no Debenture could be converted to common shares and
accordingly the conversion privilege was extinguished which resulted in us recording an unrealized gain of $66,679 with
respect to the extinguishment of the fair value of the conversion feature liability for the year ending December 31, 2011.
Certain debt issuance costs were contingent on us completing the purchase of the MOSAID shares and since we did not
purchase the MOSAID shares, $5,817 of debt issuance costs were not payable. This resulted in a reduction in the debt
issuance costs allocated to the convertible debt component of $4,097 and to the conversion feature component of $1,720.
The reduction of $1,720 was recorded as a reduction of period expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011.
As a result of the offer expiring and the corresponding change in the estimated life of the Debentures, the amortization of
the outstanding debt discount and debt issuance costs allocated to the convertible debt component as at
November 1, 2011 were re-estimated based on the January 31, 2012 maturity date. In the first quarter of fiscal 2012, an
expense related to the unamortized discount of $24,998 was recognized. Our cash interest expense paid in the first
quarter of fiscal 2012 was $1,228 in addition to the amount accrued at December 31, 2011.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, we incurred $3,044 of transaction costs related to our offer to purchase all of the
issued and outstanding shares of MOSAID in addition to the above noted financing costs.

Income taxes

Current income tax expense

$

Future income tax recovery
Net income tax expense (recovery)

Year ended
December 31, 2011

Year ended
December 31, 2010

$000's

$000's
3,275

$

3,041

$

3,041

(11,716)
$

(8,441)

-

Income tax recovery for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $8,441 as compared to an income tax expense of $3,041
for the previous year. Income tax expense is recognized based on our management’s best estimate of the weighted
average annual income tax rate expected for the full financial year. The estimated average annual rate used for the year
ended December 31, 2011 was 28% and for the year ended December 31, 2010 was 31%.
As a result of signing significant license agreements during fiscal 2011 and the related dismissal of our most costly
litigations, we determined that it is more likely than not that the majority of our deferred income tax assets will be
realized. Accordingly, we reversed $13,574 of the valuation allowance previously carried at December 31, 2010 in the
first quarter of 2011. We assessed the probability that deferred income tax assets will be recovered from future taxable
income, and whether a valuation allowance is required to reflect any uncertainty. There is a valuation allowance of
$4,474 as at December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010 - $14,616). We will continue to evaluate our future income tax
position quarterly and record any adjustment necessary in that period.

Wi-LAN Inc. 2011 Annual Report

24

MD&A

We claim R&D expenditures and related investment tax credits based on our interpretation of the applicable legislation in
the Income Tax Act (Canada). These claims are subject to review by the Canada Revenue Agency. For the year ended
December 31, 2011, we recorded non-refundable investment tax credits earned in prior years of $6,221 as a deferred tax
recovery.
The current income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, consisted of foreign taxes withheld on
royalty revenues received from licensees in foreign tax jurisdictions for which there is no treaty relief. Withholding tax
expense for the year ended December 31, 2011 was 3% of revenue as compared to 6% of revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2010, respectively. The decrease in withholding tax expense as a percentage of revenue is attributable to
the increase in revenue from jurisdictions for which there is treaty relief.
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Summary of quarterly performance
(Unaudited)

T housands of U.S. dollars except share & per share amounts

T hree months
Thre e months
e nde d De ce mbe r ended September 30,
31, 2011
2011

T hree months
T hree months
ended June 30, ended March 31,
2011
2011

Revenues

$

24,224

$

27,821

$

27,419

$

26,345

Net earnings (loss) per share
Basic

$

(0.05) $

0.06

$

0.08

$

0.17

Diluted

$

(0.04) $

0.06

$

0.08

$

0.17

Adjusted earnings

$

17,761

$

22,769

$

20,442

$

10,549

Basic

$

0.14

$

0.18

$

0.17

$

0.09

Diluted

$

0.14

$

0.18

$

0.16

$

0.09

Adjusted earnings per share

Weighted average number of common shares
Basic

123,581,452

123,443,900

122,391,639

117,081,518

Diluted

125,214,015

125,618,973

124,821,577

119,875,722

T housands of U.S. dollars except share & per share amounts
Revenues

T hree months
T hree months
ended December 31, ended September 30,
2010
2010
$

10,982

$

10,790

T hree months
T hree months
ended June 30, ended March 31,
2010
2010
$

11,589

$

15,875

Net earnings (loss) per share
Basic

$

(0.11) $

(0.06) $

(0.05) $

0.01

Diluted

$

(0.11) $

(0.06) $

(0.05) $

0.01

$

(4,818) $

Adjusted earnings (loss)

903

$

1,228

$

7,480

Adjusted earnings (loss) per share
Basic

$

(0.05) $

0.01

$

0.01

$

(0.08)

Diluted

$

(0.05) $

0.01

$

0.01

$

(0.08)

Weighted average number of common shares
Basic

104,877,986

103,334,579

102,792,049

102,122,809

Diluted

104,877,986

103,334,579

102,792,049

103,603,458
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CAPITAL AND LIQUIDITY
Cash and cash equivalents, and short-term investments amounted to $433,710 at December 31, 2011, representing an
increase of $324,103 from the $109,607 held at December 31, 2010.
At December 31, 2011 we had working capital of $200,434, success fee obligation of $15,212 and patent finance
obligations of $5,189 which relates to deferred payment terms on patents we acquired during the three months ended
March 31, 2011.
We have a revolving credit facility available in the amount of CDN$8,000 or the equivalent in U.S. dollars for general
corporate purposes and a further CDN$2,000 for foreign exchange facility. Canadian dollar or U.S. dollar amounts
advanced under this credit facility are payable on demand and bear interest at the bank's Canadian prime rate plus 1.0%
per annum or U.S. base rate plus 1.0% per annum. Borrowings under this facility are collateralized by a general security
agreement over our cash and cash equivalents, receivables and present and future personal property. As at
September 30 , 2011, we had no borrowings under this facility.
On September 8, 2011 and September 12, 2011, we completed an offering of Debentures having an aggregate principal
amount of CDN $230,000. The net proceeds from the offering were approximately CDN $224,000, after deducting
issuance costs. The net proceeds of the offering were intended to be used to purchase all of the issued and outstanding
common shares of MOSAID pursuant to the offer to purchase dated August 23, 2011 and therefore the net proceeds were
classified as internally restricted cash. We did not acquire the issued and outstanding common shares of MOSAID
accordingly the Debentures matured on January 30, 2012. On November 11, 2011, we received regulatory approval to
make a normal course issuer bid (“Debenture Bid”) through the facilities of the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”). Under
the Debenture Bid, we planned to purchase for cancellation up to CDN $11,500 worth of our Debentures, being 5% of
the CDN $230,000 worth of Debentures as of November 11, 2011, when the TSX approved the arrangement. The
Debenture Bid commenced on November 11, 2011 and did not extend beyond January 31, 2012. We repurchased $1,535
worth of our Debentures under the Debenture Bid during the year ended December 31, 2011. On January 31, 2012 we
repaid the aggregate principal amount remaining of the outstanding Debentures of CDN $228,456 and accrued and
unpaid interest of CDN $5,445.
On December 13, 2011, we received regulatory approval to make a normal course issuer bid (“Share Bid”) through the
facilities of the TSX. Under the Share Bid, we plan to purchase up to 6,183,347 common shares, representing up to 5% of
the common shares issued and outstanding when the TSX approved the arrangement. The Share Bid commenced on
December 15, 2011 and will not extend beyond March 3, 2012. We repurchased 527,700 common shares under the Share
Bid during the year ended December 31, 2011 for a total of $2,871.
We plan to use our unrestricted cash resources to fund our operations and any litigation that might be required, and to
purchase additional high quality patent portfolios and patent licensing businesses that are identified and fit our value
proposition and strategic objectives.
Our ability to generate cash from operations going forward is based on collecting royalties under our signed licenses and
additional licensing of our patent portfolio to companies around the world. It is difficult to predict the timing and nature
of future licenses.
We plan to finance our cash requirements for operating expenses, litigation costs and technology acquisitions by a
combination of cash generated from licensing our patent portfolio and, if desirable based on market conditions, by selling
common shares and debt securities to the public.
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OUTSTANDING COMMON SHARE DATA
We are authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares, 6,350.9 special preferred, redeemable, retractable,
non-voting shares and an unlimited number of preferred shares, issuable in series. As at December 31, 2011, there were
123,236,813 common shares and no special or preferred shares issued and outstanding. We also maintain a Share Option
Plan, an Employee Share Purchase Plan and a Deferred Stock Unit Plan. Under all these plans, we can issue a maximum
of 10% of our issued and outstanding common shares from time to time which was, as at December 31, 2011, 12,323,681
common shares combined. As at December 31, 2011, we had 8,821,980 options outstanding and 73,658 DSUs
outstanding.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
We are exposed to a number of risks related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates, collection of
accounts receivable, settlement of liabilities and management of cash and cash equivalents.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to us if a licensee or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily
of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable and forward foreign exchange contracts.
Our cash and cash equivalents, and short-term investments consist primarily of deposit investments that are held only
with Canadian chartered banks. Our management does not expect any counter-party to fail to meet their obligations.
Our exposure to credit risk with our accounts receivable from licensees is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each licensee. Our licensees are currently, for the most part, manufacturers and distributors of
telecommunications and consumer electronics products primarily located in the United States, Canada, Taiwan, Korea,
Japan and China. Credit risk from accounts receivable encompasses the default risk of our licensees. Prior to entering
into license agreements with new licensees we assess the risk of default associated with the licensee. In addition, on an
ongoing basis, we monitor the level of accounts receivable attributable to each licensee and the length of time taken for
amounts to be settled and where necessary, take appropriate action to follow up on those balances considered overdue.
We have had no significant bad debts for any periods presented.
We do not believe that there is significant credit risk arising from any of our licensees for which revenue has been
recognized. If one of our major licensees is unable to settle amounts due, however, the impact on us could be significant.
The maximum exposure to loss arising from accounts receivable is equal to their total carrying amount. At
December 31, 2011, two licensees accounted for 10% or more of total accounts receivable
(December 31, 2010- two licensees).

Financial assets past due
The following table provides information regarding the aging and collectability of our accounts receivable balances as at
December 31, 2011:
Not past due

$

Past due 1-30 days

485
1,668

Past due 31-60 days

7

Past due 61-90 days

-

Over 91 days past due

18

Less allowance for doubtful accounts
Total accounts receivable
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The definition of items that are past due is determined by reference to terms agreed with individual licensees. As at the
date of this report, March 9, 2011, approximately $1,673 of past due amounts have been collected. None of the amounts
outstanding have been challenged by the respective licensees and we continue to conduct business with them on an
ongoing basis. Accordingly, our management has no reason to believe that this balance is not fully collectable in the
future.
We review financial assets past due on an ongoing basis with the objective of identifying potential matters which could
delay the collection of funds at an early stage. Once items are identified as being past due, contact is made with the
applicable licensee to determine the reason for the delay in payment and to establish an agreement to rectify the breach of
contractual terms. At December 31, 2011, we had a provision for doubtful accounts of $25 (December 31, 2010 - $5)
which was made against accounts receivable where collection efforts to date have been unsuccessful.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk to us that the fair value of future cash flows from our financial instruments will fluctuate due to
changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Market risk arises as a result of our generating revenues in
foreign currencies.

Interest rate risk
The only financial instruments that expose us to interest rate risk are our cash and cash equivalents and short-term
investments. Our objective in managing our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments is to ensure sufficient
funds are maintained on hand at all times to meet day to day requirements and to place any amounts which are
considered in excess of day to day requirements on short-term deposit with our banks so that they earn interest. When
placing amounts of cash and cash equivalents into short-term investments, we only place investments with Canadian
chartered banks and ensure that access to the amounts placed can be obtained on short-notice.

Currency risk
A portion of our revenues and operating expenses are denominated in Canadian dollars. Because the Company reports its
financial performance in U.S. dollars, our operating results are subject to changes in the exchange rate of the Canadian
dollar relative to the U.S. dollar. Any decrease in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar has an
unfavourable impact on Canadian dollar denominated revenues and a favourable impact on Canadian dollar denominated
operating expenses. Recently, decreases in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar have had a positive
impact on our Canadian dollar denominated operating expenses. Approximately 69% of our cash and cash equivalents
and short term investments, and all of our Debentures are denominated in Canadian dollars and are subject to changes in
the exchange rate of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar. We were maintaining a large portion of our cash and
cash equivalents and short term investments in Canadian dollars for the repayment of the Debentures on
January 31, 2012. The recent decrease in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar has had a negative
impact on our Canadian dollar denominated cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, and a positive impact on
our Debentures.
We may manage the risk associated with foreign exchange rate fluctuations by, from time to time, entering into forward
foreign exchange contracts and engaging in other hedging strategies. To the extent that we engage in risk management
activities related to foreign exchange rates, we may be subject to credit risks associated with the counterparties with
whom we contract.
Our objective in obtaining forward foreign exchange contracts is to manage our risk and exposure to currency rate
fluctuations related primarily to future cash inflows and outflows of Canadian dollars and to secure our profitability on
anticipated future cash flows. We do not use forward foreign exchange contracts for speculative or trading purposes.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, INCLUDING INITIAL ADOPTION OF POLICIES,
AND CRITICAL ESTIMATES
Our management is required to make judgments, assumptions and estimates in applying our accounting policies and
practices which have a significant impact on our financial results. The preceding discussion outlines our significant
accounting policies and practices adopted under U.S. GAAP. The following outlines the accounting policies and
practices involving the use of professional judgment and estimates that are critical to determining our financial results.

Revenue recognition
Application of the accounting principles related to the measurement and recognition of revenue requires us to make
judgments and estimates. Revenue arrangements may be comprised of multiple elements. Judgment is required in
determining the deliverables that exist in an arrangement and the nature of these deliverables. Revenue recognition
requires the arrangement fee to be allocated to the elements on a relative fair value basis. Judgment and estimates are
required when determining the relative fair value of elements utilizing standalone prices for similar deliverables where it
exists or third party evidence of standalone price or internally generated estimates of standalone price. Revenue for
elements of a license arrangement treated as a sale is recognized when delivered. Judgment is required in determining
when delivery has occurred including assessing if significant obligations exist that must be completed and the timing of
when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred.
Certain arrangements may contain extended payment terms. Judgment is required in determining if the payment terms
impact the ability to recognize revenue due to concerns over collectability arising from credit risk or the risks of granting
concessions.

Share-Based Payments
We have a Share Option Plan for our employees, officers, directors and consultants that we record at fair value. The fair
value of our options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and judgments to estimate the term of
our options, the volatility of our common shares and future dividends. In addition, judgment is required in estimating the
amount of option awards that are expected to be forfeited. If actual results differ significantly from these estimates,
stock-based compensation expense and our operating results could be materially impacted.

Investment Tax Credits
At December 31, 2011, we have approximately $6,221 (December 31, 2010 - $5,884) of non-refundable investment tax
credits carried forward, relating primarily to past R&D. These credits can be applied against future income taxes payable
and are subject to a 20 year carry forward period. Judgment is required in determining the amount of unutilized
investment tax credits to record as an asset. In assessing the potential utilization of investment tax credits, we have
considered whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the unutilized investment tax credits will be
realized based upon estimates of our anticipated income tax position in future periods. During the first quarter of 2011,
we recorded a deferred income tax recovery associated with our non-refundable investment tax credits of $5,951 as we
determined it is more likely than not that these credits will be utilized. We will continue to evaluate our future income tax
position quarterly and record any adjustment necessary in that period.

Valuation of Deferred Income Tax Assets and Future Income Tax Expense (Recovery)
As at December 31, 2011, we had accumulated $19,606 of unused R&D expenditures for income tax purposes. These
deductions are available without expiry to reduce future year’s taxable income. We also had approximately $42,706 of
tax losses available for carry forward. As a result, as of December 31, 2011, we have a deferred income tax asset of
$16,235 which has been fully booked. Judgment is required in determining the amounts of deferred income tax assets and
liabilities and the related valuation allowance recorded against the net deferred income tax assets. In assessing the
potential realization of deferred income tax assets, we have considered whether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will be realized. Our management assesses the probability that deferred
income tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, and whether a valuation allowance is required to reflect
any uncertainty at each reporting period. We estimate when deferred income tax assets will be realized and classify them
as current and long term accordingly. We will continue to evaluate our deferred income tax position quarterly and record
any adjustment necessary in that period. As at December 31, 2011, we had a valuation allowance of $4,474
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(December 31, 2010 - $14,616).

Current Income Tax Expense
On an ongoing basis, our management reviews the estimated current tax position and the use of accumulated tax
deductions. Based on this review, we recognized a current income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2011
consisting of foreign taxes withheld on royalty revenues received from licensees in foreign tax jurisdictions for which
there is no treaty relief.

Patents and Other Intangibles
We have acquired patents, license agreements and other intangible assets directly, through business acquisitions or as full
or partial settlement of licensing fees. In determining the fair value of these patents and other intangibles, we make
estimates and judgments about the future income-producing capabilities of these assets and related future cash flows. We
also make estimates about the useful lives of these assets based on assessment of the legal and economic lives of the
patents and potential future licensing revenues achievable from our patent portfolio. Our patent portfolio as at December
31, 2011 is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining useful lives of the patents which range from six to
fourteen years. If our basis for assessing the useful lives of the intangibles and potential future licensing revenues
achievable from our patent portfolio is adversely affected by future events or circumstances, we will record write-downs
of patents, write-down of other intangible assets, or changes in the estimated useful lives of these assets, which would
result in changes to amortization expense in the future. Such changes would not affect cash flows.
The carrying value of patents and other intangibles is reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Impairments are determined by comparing the carrying value to the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows to be generated by those assets. If this assessment indicates that the carrying
value of the patents and other intangibles is not recoverable, the carrying value is then compared with the estimated fair
value of the assets, and the carrying value is written down to the estimated fair value. We have determined that there
were no indications of possible impairment during the year.

Goodwill
Goodwill is subject to annual impairment tests or on a more frequent basis if events or conditions indicate that goodwill
may be impaired. We will also test goodwill for impairment more frequently if events or circumstances warrant.
As a whole, we are considered one reporting unit. We estimate the value of our reporting unit based on market
capitalization. If we determine that our carrying value exceeds our fair value, we would conduct the second step of the
goodwill impairment test which compares the implied fair value of the goodwill (determined as the excess fair value over
the fair value assigned to our other assets and liabilities) to the carrying amount of goodwill.
We have determined there were no indications of possible impairment during the year.

Convertible Debentures
The conversion feature of our Debentures was treated as a derivative financial instrument and was recorded at its fair
value as a liability as it was not considered to be indexed to our shares because the exercise price is denominated in
Canadian dollars and the Company’s functional currency is U.S. dollars. The proceeds from the issuance of the
Debentures were allocated between the Debenture and conversion feature based on the relative fair values of the two
components on the date of issuance. The initial fair value of the Debenture component was estimated using an interest
rate for similar debt instruments excluding a conversion feature and the corresponding discount is amortized over the
estimated term of the debt. The initial value of the conversion feature component was determined using Black-Scholes
and the foreign exchange rate in effect at the date of issue. The conversion feature component was re-measured using
Black-Scholes and the foreign exchange rate in effect at the end of the period and any change was recorded as unrealized
gain/loss. On November 1, 2011, the conversion feature was extinguished and the fair value was reversed. The
Debentures are accreting from $162,265 on November 1, 2011 to $224,641 on January 31, 2012.
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Estimation uncertainty
Critical accounting policies and estimates utilized in the normal course of preparing our consolidated financial statements
require the determination of future cash flows utilized in assessing net recoverable amounts and net realizable values;
amortization, allowance for bad debt, legal contingency estimate, useful lives of property, equipment and intangible
assets, valuation of intangibles, valuation of debt securities, and measurement of deferred taxes. In making estimates,
management relies on external information and observable conditions where possible, supplemented by internal analysis
where required.
These estimates have been applied in a manner consistent with that in the prior periods and there are no known trends,
commitments, events or uncertainties that we believe will materially affect the methodology or assumptions utilized in
these consolidated financial statements. The estimates are impacted by many factors, some of which are highly uncertain.
The interrelated nature of these factors prevents us from quantifying the overall impact of these movements on our
financial statements in a meaningful way. These sources of estimation uncertainty relate in varying degrees to virtually
all asset and liability account balances.
Critical accounting estimates are defined as estimates that are very important to the portrayal of our financial position and
operating results and require management to make judgments based on underlying assumptions about future events and
their effects.
These underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that we believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances and are subject to change as events occur, as additional information is obtained and as the environment
in which we operates changes.
Critical accounting estimates and accounting policies are reviewed annually or more often if needed, by the Audit
Committee.

Adoption of accounting pronouncements
In 2009, the Emerging Issues Task Force (the “EITF”) reached final consensus under Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU”) No. 2009-13 (Topic 605) on the guidance related to revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables. This
guidance eliminates the residual method of allocating arrangement consideration in arrangements involving multiple
deliverables. This guidance is effective for our revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified on or after
January 1, 2011. We adopted this guidance in the first quarter of 2011 and the adoption of this new guidance did not have
a material impact to our consolidated financial statements.
In 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2010-13 (Topic 718) to clarify that a
share-based payment award with an exercise price denominated in the currency of a market in which a substantial portion
of the entity’s equity securities trades must not be considered to contain a market, performance, or service condition.
Under this guidance, an entity would not classify such an award as a liability if it otherwise qualifies for classification in
equity and was adopted in the first quarter of 2011. The adoption did not have a material impact to our consolidated
financial statements.
In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-04 (Topic 820) to amend fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements to achieve common fair value measurement and disclosure requirements in U.S. GAAP and International
Financial Reporting Standards. We are required to adopt this guidance in the first quarter of 2012 and the adoption is not
expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-08 (Topic 350) to amend the test for goodwill impairment and
permit an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as the basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step
goodwill impairment test. We are required to adopt this guidance in the first quarter of 2012 and the adoption is not
expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05 (Topic 220), to amend the option to report other comprehensive income
and its components in the statement of changes in equity. Instead, an entity will be required to present either a continuous
statement of net income and other comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. We adopted this
guidance in the first quarter of 2011 and the adoption did not have a material impact to our consolidated financial
statements.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
In conformance with National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings of
the Canadian Securities Administrators, we have filed certificates signed by our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer that, among other things, deal with the matter of disclosure controls and procedures.
Our management has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2011, and
based on our evaluation has concluded that these are effective.
The evaluation took into consideration our corporate disclosure policy and the functioning of our executive officers,
Board and Board Committees. In addition, our evaluation covered our processes, systems and capabilities relating to
regulatory filings, public disclosures and the identification and communication of material information.
Critical accounting estimates are defined as estimates that are very important to the portrayal of our financial position and
operating results and require management to make judgments based on underlying assumptions about future events and
their effects.
These underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that we believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances and are subject to change as events occur, as additional information is obtained and as the environment
in which we operate changes.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.
Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Because of its inherent
limitations, however, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis.
Our management evaluated, under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2011. We based our evaluation on
criteria established in “Internal Control over Financial Reporting – Guidance for Smaller Public Companies” issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) and, based on that evaluation, we
have concluded that, as of December 31, 2011, our internal control over financial reporting is effective.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROLS
There have been no changes in our “internal control over financial reporting” that occurred during the year ended
December 31, 2011 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the internal control over
financial reporting.
For the year ended December 31, 2012, management will be required to attest to the effectiveness of the “internal control
over financial reporting” pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT

The consolidated financial statements and other financial information of WiLAN included in this annual report are the
responsibility of the Company’s management and have been examined and approved by its Audit Committee and Board
of Directors. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America and include amounts that are based on management’s best
estimates using careful judgment. The selection of accounting principles and methods is management’s responsibility.
To discharge its responsibility for financial reporting and the safeguarding of assets, the Company maintains internal
control systems designed to provide reasonable assurances that financial information is reliable and accurate.
Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company’s affairs to comply with the requirements of
applicable laws and establishes financial standards and principles, and for maintaining proper standards of conduct in its
activities.
The Board of Directors supervises the consolidated financial statements and other financial information such as the
management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”) through its Audit
Committee, which consists solely of outside directors. The Audit Committee meets at least quarterly with management
and annually with the independent auditors to review the Company’s reported financial performance and discuss audit,
internal control, accounting policy and financial reporting matters.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) have audited the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. PwC are the external auditors who were appointed by the Company’s shareholders.

James D. Skippen
CEO
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Wi-LAN Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Wi-LAN Inc., which comprise the consolidated
balance sheets as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and the consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes.
Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Wi-LAN Inc., as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and its results of operations and cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
March 9, 2012
Ottawa, Ontario
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Wi-LAN Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share amounts)

Year ended
December 31,
2011
Revenue
Royalties
Brokerage
Total Revenue

$
$

Operating expenses
Cost of revenue
Research and development (Note 3)
Marketing, general and administration
Realized foreign exchange (gain) loss
Unrealized foreign exchange loss
Transaction costs
Restructuring charges
Total operating expenses
Earnings (loss) from operations
Investment income
Interest expense
Debenture financing, net (Note 8)
Earnings (loss) before income taxes
Provision for (recovery of) income tax expense (Note 3)
Current
Deferred
Net earnings (loss)
Other comprehensive income
Cumulative translation adjustment
Comprehensive income (loss)

$

Earnings (loss) per share (Note 10(g))
Basic
Diluted

$
$

Weighted average number of common shares
Basic
Diluted

104,813
996
105,809

Year ended
December 31,
2010

$
$

45,557
3,679
49,236

27,012
7,792
65,749
(1,958)
2,997
3,044
104,636
1,173
5,654
(4,218)
20,747
23,356

26,103
3,965
37,462
230
4
726
68,490
(19,254)
683
(18,571)

3,275
(11,716)
(8,441)
31,797

3,041
3,041
(21,612)

(9,830)
21,967

0.26
0.25

122,741,326
124,999,644

$

12,713
(8,899)

$
$

(0.21)
(0.21)

103,289,548
103,289,548

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Wi-LAN Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands of United States dollars)
December 31,
2011

As at
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable (Note 11)
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Deferred financing costs (Note 8)

$

Furniture and equipment, net (Note 4)
Patents and other intangibles, net (Note 5)
Deferred tax asset (Note 3)
Goodwill (Note 6)
$
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 9)
Due to related party (Note 9)
Current portion of patent finance obligation (Note 7)
Deferred tax liability (Note 3)
Debentures (Note 8)

$

Patent finance obligation (Note 7)
Success fee obligation (Note 12 (c))

432,186
1,524
2,153
290
1,716
437,869
1,769
118,645
18,086
12,623
588,992

22,169
7,102
2,458
1,851
203,855
237,435

December 31,
2010
$

$

$

82,636
26,971
2,238
213
112,058
568
126,069
13,522
252,217

11,804
11,804

5,189
15,212
257,836

11,804

436,606
14,061
16,225
(135,736)
331,156
588,992

355,709
13,786
26,055
(155,137)
240,413
252,217

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Shareholders' equity
Common shares (Note 10(c))
Additional paid-in capital (Note 10(d))
Accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 2)
Deficit
$

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
On behalf of the Board:

Richard Shorkey
Director
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Wi-LAN Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
(in thousands of United States dollars)

Year ended
December 31,
2011
Cash generated from (used in)
Operations
Net earnings (loss)
Non-cash items
Stock-based compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Extinguishment of conversion feature of convertible debentures
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Deferred financing costs
Accretion of debt discount
Disposal of patents
Deferred income tax recovery
Accrued interest
Long term portion of success fee

$

31,797

Year ended
December 31,
2010

$

(21,612)

4,228
22,785
(66,679)
(5,175)
4,195
41,737
704
(11,716)
4,218
15,212
41,306

1,835
20,796
1,327
80
2,426

Change in non-cash working capital balances
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Assets held for sale
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Cash generated from operations
Financing
Proceeds on sale of common shares, net
Dividends paid
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debentures, net
Debentures repurchased under normal course issuer bid
Common shares repurchased under normal course issuer bid
Common shares issued for cash on the exercise of options
Common shares issued for cash from Employee Share Purchase Plan
Cash generated from financing
Investing
Purchase of short-term investments
Purchase of furniture and equipment
Purchase of patents
Cash generated from (used in) investing
Foreign exchange loss on cash held in foreign currency
Effect of change in reporting currency

85
(77)
15,785
57,099

(1,689)
(71)
2,082
3,127
5,875

71,992
(10,668)
226,749
(1,535)
(2,871)
6,086
182
289,935

20,673
(4,750)
4,122
151
20,196

25,473
(1,907)
(19,753)
3,813
(1,297)
-

(6,015)
(411)
(9,994)
(16,420)
(1,078)
4,831

Net cash and cash equivalents generated in the period
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

349,550
82,636
432,186

13,404
69,232
82,636

$

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Wi-LAN Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity
(in thousands of United States dollars)

Share Capital
Balance - December 31, 2009

$

328,654

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

Additional Paidin Capital
$

14,892

$

13,342

Deficit
$

(127,469)

Total Equity
$

229,419

Comprehensive earnings:
Net loss

-

-

-

(21,612)

(21,612)

Net impact of change in reporting currency on non monetary items

-

-

12,713

-

12,713

-

1,835

-

-

1,835

6,231

(2,109)

-

-

4,122

151

-

-

-

151

20,673

-

-

-

20,673

Shares issued:
Stock-based Compensation Expense
Exercise of Stock Options
Sale of shares under Employee Share Purchase Plan
December 2010 Short Form Prospectus, net of issuance costs
Expense related to RSUs issued on surrender of options

-

Dividends declared

-

Balance - December 31, 2010

(832)

355,709

-

-

-

-

(6,056)

(832)

13,786

26,055

(155,137)

240,413

(6,056)

Comprehensive earnings:
Net earnings

-

-

-

31,797

31,797

Net impact of change in functional currency on non monetary items

-

-

(9,830)

-

(9,830)

-

4,228

-

-

4,228

9,181

(3,095)

-

-

6,086

182

-

-

-

182

71,992

-

-

-

71,992

-

-

-

1,410

145

-

-

-

-

Shares issued:
Stock-based Compensation Expense (Note 10(d))
Exercise of Stock Options (Note 10(c))
Sale of shares under Employee Share Purchase Plan (Note 10(c))
January 2011 Short Form Prospectus, net of issuance costs (Note 10(c))
Tax benefit related to share issuance costs

1,410

Expense related to RSUs issued on surrender of options

-

Shares repurchased under normal course issuer bid (Note 10(c))
Dividends declared (Note 10(c))
Balance - December 31, 2011

(1,868)
$

436,606

(1,003)
$

14,061

$

16,225

$

(12,396)
(135,736)

145
(2,871)
$

(12,396)
331,156

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Wi-LAN Inc.
NOTES TO AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share amounts, unless otherwise stated)

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS
Wi-LAN Inc. (“WiLAN” or the “Company”) develops, acquires, and licenses a range of intellectual property that drives
products in communications and consumer electronics markets. The Company has licensed patents to companies that sell
products utilizing the following technologies including: Wi-Fi, WiMAX, LTE, CDMA, DSL, DOCSIS, Bluetooth and
V-Chip.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
Effective January 1, 2011, the Company changed its primary basis of accounting to generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) from Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
(“Canadian GAAP”). The Company made the change to U.S. GAAP as a result of the Company's listing on the
NASDAQ Global Select Market (the “U.S. Listing”) and to facilitate comparisons with its industry peers, all of whom
are listed in the U.S. and file financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Previously, the Company
prepared its interim and audited financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP and included a reconciliation to
U.S. GAAP in the audited financial statements.
Effective January 1, 2011, the Company determined that its functional currency has changed from the Canadian dollar to
the U.S. dollar. Concurrent with this change in functional currency, the Company adopted the U.S. dollar as its reporting
currency.
For presentation purposes, the change was effected for prior periods using the current rate method as follows: assets and
liabilities were translated into U.S. dollars at the prevailing exchange rates at each balance sheet date; revenues and
expenses were translated at the average exchange rates prevailing during each reporting period; and equity transactions
were translated at the prevailing historical exchange rate at each transaction date. Adjustments resulting from the
translations are included in the cumulative translation adjustments in shareholders’ equity and totaled $26,055 at
December 31, 2010. The change in functional currency on January 1, 2011, resulted in a reduction in the net book value
of the Company’s non-current assets of $12,940 (net of the deferred tax impact of $3,110) which has been applied to the
Company’s Cumulative Translation Adjustment within Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.
The consolidated financial statements of WiLAN include the accounts of WiLAN and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All
inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.
The significant accounting policies are summarized below:
Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the years. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
Revenue Recognition
The Company’s revenue consists of royalty revenue and brokerage revenue. The Company considers revenue to be
earned when it has persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the obligation has been fulfilled in accordance with the terms
of the licensing agreement, including delivery and acceptance, and collection is reasonably assured. The Company defers
recognizing revenue until such time as all criteria are met. Determination of whether or not these criteria have been met
may require the Company to make judgments, assumptions and estimates based upon current information and historical
experience.
Wi-LAN Inc. 2011 Annual Report
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NOTES TO AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share amounts, unless otherwise stated)

The Company’s royalty revenues consist of fixed fee and running royalty payments. Royalties from fixed fee royalty
arrangements may consist of one or more instalments of cash or in-kind property, such as patents. The Company
recognizes revenue from these arrangements as amounts become due and collection is assured. Royalties from running
royalty arrangements can be based on either a percentage of sales or number of units sold for which the Company earns
royalties at the time the licensees’ sales occur. The licensees are obligated to provide the Company with quarterly or
semi-annual royalty reports and these reports are typically received subsequent to the period in which the licensees
underlying sales occurred. As the Company is unable to estimate the licensees’ sales in any given reporting period to
determine the royalties owing, it recognizes revenue from running royalty arrangements in the period in which the
royalty report is received and when all other revenue recognition criteria are met.
The Company’s brokerage revenue consists of the sale of patents from within its portfolio and recognizes revenue when
it is earned. The Company considers brokerage revenue to be earned when it has persuasive evidence of an arrangement,
the obligation has been fulfilled in accordance with the terms of the agreement, including delivery and acceptance and
collection is reasonably assured.
Revenue arrangements with extended payment terms, where fees are fixed in one or more installments of cash and which
contain terms that could impact the amounts ultimately collected, are generally recognized as collection becomes
assured.
Stock-based Compensation
The Company has a share option plan (“Option Plan”) for certain employees, directors and consultants. The Company
accounts for stock options using the fair value method. Compensation expense is measured at the estimated fair value of
the options at the date of grant and charged to earnings on a straight-line basis over the vesting periods. The amount
expensed is credited to additional paid-in capital in the period. Upon the exercise of stock options, cash received is
credited to share capital together with any amount previously credited to additional paid-in capital related to the options
exercised.
Deferred Stock Units (“DSUs”)
The Company has a DSU plan for certain employees and directors. The Company has the right to settle the DSUs in
either cash or by the issuance of common shares. The liability for outstanding units and related expense for the DSUs are
adjusted to reflect the market value of the common shares at each balance sheet date.
Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”)
The Company has a RSU plan for certain employees and directors and has granted RSUs pursuant to certain employment
agreements and in exchange for surrendered stock options. Under the RSU plan, units are settled in cash based on the
market value of WiLAN’s common shares on dates the RSUs vest. The accrued liability and related expense for the
RSUs are adjusted to reflect the market value of the common shares at each balance sheet date.
Income Taxes
The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on the difference between the accounting and tax bases of the assets and liabilities and measured using
the substantively enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect when the differences are estimated to be reversed. In
assessing the realizability of deferred income tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will be realized. The realization of deferred income tax assets is
dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences are
deductible.
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Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share amounts, unless otherwise stated)

Research and Development (“R&D”)
Costs incurred in R&D, which include engineering expenses, such as staff costs (including stock based compensation)
and certain external consultants related to the development efforts, as well as, the expenses related to the management of
the patent portfolio, are expensed as incurred.
Computation of Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Basic earnings/loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings/loss per share is computed using the treasury stock method.
Foreign Currency Translation
The Company’s functional currency is United States dollars (“USD”); monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into USD at exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date.
The Company enters into forward foreign exchange contracts, from time to time, to manage its exposure to currency rate
fluctuations related primarily to future cash inflows and outflows of U.S. dollars. The Company does not hold or issue
derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes and it has chosen not to designate them as hedges.
Therefore these contracts must be designated as “held for trading” on the balance sheet and fair valued each quarter. The
resulting gain or loss on the valuation of these financial instruments is included in net earnings/loss.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in bank accounts, term deposits and Guaranteed Investment Certificates
(“GICs”) with maturities of three months or less at the date of the investment.
Furniture and Equipment
Furniture and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Leasehold improvements
Computer equipment and software
Furniture and equipment

term of the lease
3 years
5 years

The carrying value of furniture and equipment is reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the asset group may not be recoverable as the furniture and equipment is held to be used. The need
for impairment is assessed by comparing the carrying value to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows to be
generated by those assets. If this assessment indicates that the carrying value of the furniture and equipment is not
recoverable, the carrying value is then compared with the estimated fair value of the assets and the carrying value is
written down to the estimated fair value.
Patents and Other Intangibles
Patents and other intangibles are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is calculated on the
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life or the remaining term of the patent (up to 20 years), whichever is less.
The carrying value of patents and other intangibles is reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The need for impairment is assessed by comparing the carrying value to
the estimated undiscounted future cash flows to be generated by those assets. If this assessment indicates that the
carrying value of the patents and other intangibles is not recoverable, the carrying value is then compared with the
estimated fair value of the assets and the carrying value is written down to the estimated fair value.
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Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share amounts, unless otherwise stated)

Goodwill
Goodwill is recorded as at the date of the business combination and represents the excess of the purchase price of
acquired businesses over the fair value assigned to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not
amortized, but is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the
asset might be impaired.
The impairment test is carried out in two steps. In the first step, the carrying value of the reporting unit including
goodwill is compared with its fair value. When the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, goodwill of
the reporting unit is considered not to be impaired and the second step is unnecessary. The Company has one reporting
unit.
In the event the fair value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, is less than the carrying value, the implied fair value
of the reporting unit’s goodwill is compared with its carrying value to measure the amount of any impairment loss. When
the carrying value of goodwill in the reporting unit exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss is
recognized in an amount equal to the excess and is presented as a separate line item in the consolidated statements of
operations and deficit.
Business Segment Information
The Company has one operating segment; Intellectual Property. The Company generates the majority of its revenues
in U.S. dollars from several geographic regions; however it has allocated its revenues to the location in which the license
originated. All licenses are issued in Canada and therefore all revenues are attributed to Canada.
Debentures
The conversion feature of the Company’s convertible debentures (see Note 8) is treated as a derivative financial
instrument and recorded at its fair value as a liability because it was not considered to be indexed to the Company’s
common shares since the exercise price was denominated in Canadian dollars and the Company’s functional currency is
U.S. dollars. The proceeds from the issuance of the convertible debentures were allocated to the debentures and
conversion feature based on the relative fair values of the two components on the date of issuance. The initial fair value
of the debenture component was estimated using an interest rate for similar debt instruments excluding a conversion
feature and the corresponding discount was amortized over the estimated term of the debt. The initial value of the
conversion feature component was determined using Black-Scholes and the foreign exchange rate in effect. The
conversion feature component was re-measured at each balance sheet date using Black-Scholes and the foreign exchange
rate in effect at the end of the period and any change was recorded as unrealized gain/loss.

Adoption of accounting pronouncements
In 2009, the Emerging Issues Task Force (the “EITF”) reached final consensus under Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU”) No. 2009-13 (Topic 605) on the issue related to revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables. This guidance
eliminates the residual method of allocating arrangement consideration in arrangements involving multiple deliverables.
This guidance is effective for the Company’s revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified on or after
January 1, 2011. The Company adopted this guidance in the first quarter of 2011 and the adoption of this new issue did
not have a material impact to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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(thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share amounts, unless otherwise stated)

In 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2010-13 (Topic 718) to clarify that a
share-based payment award with an exercise price denominated in the currency of a market in which a substantial portion
of the entity’s equity securities trades must not be considered to contain a market, performance or service condition.
Under this guidance, which was effective for years beginning on or after December 15, 2010, an entity would not classify
such an award as a liability if it otherwise qualifies for classification in equity. The Company has adopted this guidance
in the first quarter of 2011 and the adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-04 (Topic 820) to amend fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements to achieve common fair value measurement and disclosure requirements in U.S. GAAP and International
Financial Reporting Standards. The Company is required to adopt this guidance in the first quarter of 2012 and the
adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05 (Topic 220), to amend the option to report other comprehensive income
and its components in the statement of changes in equity. Instead, an entity will be required to present either a continuous
statement of net income and other comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. We adopted this
guidance in the first quarter of 2011 and the adoption did not have a material impact to our consolidated financial
statements.
In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-08 (Topic 350) to amend the test for goodwill impairment and
permit an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as the basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step
goodwill impairment test. The Company is required to adopt this guidance in the first quarter of 2012 and the adoption is
not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

3. TAXES
The reconciliation of the expected provision for income tax recovery/expense to the actual provision for income tax
recovery/expense reported in the consolidated statements of operations is as follows:

Earnings (loss) before income taxes
Expected income tax expense (recovery) at Canadian
statutory income tax rate of 28.25% (2010 - 31.00%)
Permanent differences
Effect of change in tax rates
Reversal of previously recognized foreign tax credits
Foreign withholding taxes paid
Increase (decrease) in valuation allowance
Provision for income tax (recovery) expense
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$

2011
23,356

$

6,598
811
(5,972)
264
(10,142)
(8,441)

$

2010
(18,571)

$

(5,713)
74
615
4,260
1,813
1,992
3,041

45

NOTES

Wi-LAN Inc.
NOTES TO AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share amounts, unless otherwise stated)

The significant components of the Company’s future income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Tax loss carryforwards
Scientific research and experimental development
("SR&ED") carryforwards
Harmonization asset
Share issue costs
Investment tax credits ("ITC's")
Accounts payable and other
Difference between tax and book value of convertible debentures
Difference between tax and book value of furniture and patents
Total future income tax asset
Valuation allowance
Net future income tax asset

Current deferred tax liabilities
Non-current deferred tax assets

$

2011
15,102

$

4,959
617
1,913
4,648
8,986
(6,308)
(9,208)
20,709
(4,474)
16,235

$
$

2011
(1,851)
18,086
16,235

$

2010
21,233

$

4,823
682
618
9
(12,748)
14,616
(14,616)
-

$

2010
-

Management has assigned probabilities to the Company’s expected future taxable income based on significant risk
factors, sensitivity analysis and timing of non-capital tax losses resulting in the release of the valuation allowance. The
amount of the future income tax asset considered realizable could change materially in the near term, based on future
taxable income during the carryforward period. During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded a
deferred tax recovery of $11,716 which was largely attributable to the reversal of a significant portion of the Company's
valuation allowance that was applied against the deferred tax assets comprised of the Company's Canadian tax loss
carryforwards and “SR&ED credits. The valuation allowance consists of $2,975 in Canada and $1,499 in the U.S.
As at December 31, 2011, the Company had unused non-capital tax losses of approximately $42,706 (2010 - $67,207)
and SR&ED expenditure pool totaling $19,606 (2010 - $18,671) that are due to expire as follows:

2025
2026
2027
2029
2030
2031
Indefinite
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SR&ED
Expenditure Pool
$
19,606
$
19,606

Tax Losses
7,161
444
91
3,877
30,145
988
$
42,706

$
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The Company also has investment tax credits of $6,221, that expire in various amounts from 2016 to 2031, and $22,164
of capital losses carried forward with no expiry date.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company incurred R&D costs totaling $869 (2010 – $766) that it believes
will qualify for SR&ED deductions and Investment Tax Credits (“ITC”). R&D costs are comprised primarily of salaries
and benefits.
In addition, the Company has approximately $3,944 of net operating loss carry forwards available for U.S. income tax
purposes to reduce taxable income of future years that expire in various amounts from 2021 to 2031.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized income tax benefits for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:
2011
Balance at January 1
Tax postions related to current year:
Additions
Reductions
Tax postions related to prior years:

$

Additions
Reductions
Balance at December 31

-

$

2010
$

-

-

-

-

-

$

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax provision.
At December 31, 2011 and 2010, there were no interest or penalties included in the income tax provision.
The Company files Canadian and U.S. federal and state income tax returns. The Company is subject to examination by
the tax authorities for the tax years ended 2007 through 2010. The Company does not have any unrecognized tax
positions as at December 31, 2011.

4. FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT
Accumulated
Depreciation

Cost
As at December 31, 2011
Leasehold improvements
Computer equipment and software
Furniture and equipment
As at December 31, 2010
Leasehold improvements
Computer equipment and software
Furniture and equipment

Net Book
Value

$

589
2,986
530

$

402
1,487
447

$

187
1,499
83

$

4,105

$

2,336

$

1,769

$

440
1,323
435
2,198

$

299
936
395
1,630

$

141
387
40
568

$

$

$

The Company purchased furniture and equipment totaling $1,907 during 2011 (2010 - $411).
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The estimated future depreciation expense of furniture and equipment as of December 31, 2011 was as follows:
Year ending December 31:
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

Amount
$
904
597
213
34
21
$
1,769

5. PATENTS
Accumulated
Amortization

Cost

Net Book
Value

As at December 31, 2011
Patents

$

199,898

$

81,253

$

118,645

As at December 31, 2010
Patents

$

200,597

$

74,528

$

126,069

The Company purchased patents totaling $26,964 during 2011 (2010 - $4,998). As a result of the change in functional
currency (see Note 2), the Company recorded a reduction of $26,763 and $14,724 to the cost and accumulated
amortization, respectively.
The estimated future amortization expense of patents as of December 31, 2011 was as follows:
Year ending December 31:
2012
2013
2014

$

2015
2016
$

Amount
22,920
22,514
22,110
21,735
14,525
103,804

6. GOODWILL
At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying value. Accordingly, the
Company determined that goodwill was not impaired and no further testing was performed. The change in the carrying
value is attributable to the translation to U.S. dollars using the current rate for 2010 and the historical rate for 2011 as a
result of the change in reporting and functional currency (see Note 2).
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7. PATENT FINANCE OBLIGATION
On January 27, 2011, the Company acquired certain patents for future considerations while entering into a licensing
agreement with the same counter-party. The Company has accounted for the non-monetary transaction at fair value using
the income approach to value the patents acquired. To estimate the fair value, the Company considered the estimated
future royalties, related costs and applied a discount rate of 16.5%.
The obligation is based on the quarterly discounted payment stream of $688 and an effective interest rate of 4.75%. The
current and long term portion of this obligation is reflected as follows:

As at December 31,
Patent finance obligation, due December 27, 2014

As at December 31,

$

2011
7,647

$

2010
-

$

(2,458)
5,189

$

-

Current portion

Principal repayments over the next five years are expected to be as follows:
2012
2013

$
$

2,458
2,518

2014

$

2,671

8. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES
On September 8, 2011 and September 12, 2011, the Company issued 6.0% extendible convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures due September 30, 2016 (the “Debentures”) pursuant to an indenture (the “Indenture”), dated
September 8, 2011, between the Company and Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as trustee (the “Trustee”). The
Debentures bear interest at a rate of 6.0% per year, payable in cash on March 15 and September 15 of each year,
commencing March 15, 2012. The Debentures initially mature on January 31, 2012 and may have been extended to
March 31, 2012 at the Company’s discretion (the “Initial Maturity Date”). Pursuant to the Company’s offer to purchase
all the issued and outstanding shares of MOSAID Technologies Incorporated (“MOSAID”), if the initial take up of
outstanding common shares of MOSAID resulted in the Company owning or controlling at least 66 2/3% of the
MOSAID shares (the “Take Up”), the maturity date of the Debentures would have automatically extended from the
Initial Maturity Date to September 16, 2016. The Debentures are the Company's senior unsecured obligations and rank
equally in right of payment with any of the Company's future senior unsecured indebtedness, and the Debentures are
structurally subordinated to the Company's future secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the related collateral
and to the indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade payables, of the Company's subsidiaries, except with respect
to any subsidiaries that become guarantors pursuant to the terms of the Indenture.
The Debentures were convertible into cash and, if applicable, common shares of the Company at an initial conversion
rate of 108.6957 of common shares per CDN $1,000 principal amount of debentures (which was equivalent to an initial
conversion price of approximately CDN $9.20 per common share). The conversion rate, and thus the conversion price,
was to be adjusted under certain circumstances, including in connection with conversions made following certain
fundamental changes and under other circumstances as set forth in the Indenture.
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Each Debenture was to be convertible at any time after the Take Up and prior to 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on the earlier
of the final maturity date or, if called for redemption, on the business day immediately preceding the date specified by the
Company for the redemption of the notes. Upon conversion, holders would also have received accrued and unpaid
interest for the period from and including the last interest payment date on their Debenture (or the date of closing the
offering if no interest has yet been paid).
The offering of the Debentures on September 8, 2011 was for CDN $200,000 and included an overallotment option that
allowed the underwriters to purchase up to an additional CDN $30,000 aggregate principal amount of debentures. The
underwriters exercised their overallotment option on September 12, 2011, bringing the total amount of Debentures issued
on September 12, 2011 to CDN $230,000.
The Company bifurcated the proceeds from the offering of the Debentures between the convertible debenture and
conversion feature of the debentures based on the relative fair values of the two components on the date of issuance. On
the date of issuance, the relative fair values of the two components were estimated to be approximately $163,882 and
$68,778, respectively. The fair value for the convertible debt component was estimated using an interest rate of 9.0%
which was based on the estimated interest rates of similar debt instruments excluding the conversion feature. The fair
value for the conversion feature component of was determined using Black-Scholes model, with the following
assumptions:

Risk free interest rate
Volatility
Expected option life (in years)
Dividend yield

2.8%
63%
5.0
1.0%

The conversion feature was recorded as a liability and was re-measured at fair value as a liability at each subsequent
balance sheet date up to its extinguishment as discussed below. Any change in value is recorded as unrealized gain/loss.
The related initial debt discount of approximately $68,778 is being amortized using the effective interest method over the
estimated life of the Debentures.
In connection with the above-noted transactions, the Company expected to incur approximately $12,100 of directly
related costs of which $5,817 was accrued and payable only upon the Take Up. The transaction fees and related offering
expenses were allocated to the convertible debenture and conversion feature components in proportion to the allocation
of proceeds. Approximately $8,523 of debt issuance costs were allocated to the convertible debt component, which were
capitalized as deferred financing costs. These costs are being amortized over the estimated term of the debt using the
effective interest method. The remaining $3,577 of costs allocated to the conversion feature component of the debt was
recorded as a period expense for the year ended December 31, 2011.
On November 1, 2011, the Company’s offer to purchase all the issued and outstanding MOSAID shares expired as the
initial Take Up was not achieved. As a result, the maturity date of the Debentures will be January 31, 2012 and the
Company will be required to repay in cash the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Debentures and accrued and
unpaid interest. In accordance with the terms of the Indenture, as there was no take up of the outstanding shares of
MOSAID, no Debenture can be converted to common shares and accordingly the conversion privilege was extinguished
which resulted in the Company recording an unrealized gain of $66,679 with respect to the elimination of the fair value
of the conversion feature liability at the date of extinguishment.
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As noted above, the $5,817 of transaction fees were not payable as the Take Up was not achieved, resulting in a
reduction in the debt issuance costs allocated to the convertible debt component of $4,097 and to the conversion feature
component $1,700. The reduction of $1,720 allocated to the conversion feature component was recorded as a reduction
of period expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011.
As a result of the Take Up not being achieved the Company changed the estimated life of the Debentures from
September 30, 2016 to the Initial Maturity Date. Accordingly, the amortization of the outstanding debt discount and debt
issuance costs allocated to the convertible debt component as at November 1, 2011 were re-estimated based on the
January 31, 2012 maturity date.
On November 11, 2011, the Company received regulatory approval to make a normal course issuer bid (“Debenture
Bid”) through the facilities of the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”). Under the Debenture Bid, the Company planned to
purchase for cancellation up to CDN $11,500 worth of its Debentures, being 5% of the CDN $230,000 worth of
Debentures as of November 11, 2011, when the TSX approved the arrangement. The Debenture Bid commenced on
November 11, 2011 and will not extend beyond January 31, 2012. The Company repurchased $1,535 worth of its
Debentures under the Debenture Bid during the year ended December 31, 2011.
As at December 31, 2011, the carrying value of the Company’s Debentures is as follows:

6% Convertible debenture
Unamortized discount
Accrued interest
Net carrying amount

As at December 31,
2011
$
224,641
(24,998)
4,212
$
203,855

The unamortized discount of $24,998 will be reversed in the first quarter of fiscal 2012.
Debenture financing costs for the year ended December 31, 2011 were as follows:

2011
Accretion of debt discount
Financing costs
Extinguishment of conversion feature

$

$

(41,737)
(4,195)
66,679
20,747

On January 31, 2012, the Company repaid in cash the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Debentures of
CDN $228,456 and accrued and unpaid interest of CDN $5,445.
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9. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
As at December 31,
Trade payables

$

Accrued compensation
Accrued legal costs
Dividends
Success fee obligation (Note 12(c))
Accrued other
$

2011
2,419

As at December 31,
$

2010
1,490

2,609
278

2,606
3,482

3,041
12,774
1,048
22,169

1,315
2,911
11,804

$

The due to related party relates to a one-time payment of $7,102 for the incentive buy-out to extinguish the Chief
Executive Officer’s contracted right to 2% of gross revenues that had been earned, resulting from the amendment of his
employment agreement. The related party transaction has been measured at the exchange amount and is not repayable.

10. SHARE CAPITAL
a) Authorized
Unlimited number of common shares.
6,350.9 special preferred, redeemable, retractable, non-voting shares.
An unlimited number of preferred shares, issuable in series.

b) Issued and Outstanding
The issued and outstanding common shares of WiLAN, along with equity instruments convertible into common shares,
are as follows:

Common shares
Securities convertible into common shares
Stock options
Deferred stock units (DSUs)

As at December 31,
2011
123,236,813

As at December 31,
2010
109,722,975

8,821,980
73,658
132,132,451

6,843,217
68,809
116,635,001

As at December 31, 2011, no preferred shares or special preferred shares were issued or outstanding.
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c) Common Shares
Number
December 31, 2009
Issued on sale of shares under Employee Share Purchase Plan
Exercise of options
Issued on sale of shares in December 2010
Transfer from contributed surplus on options exercised

102,043,885

Amount
$

74,800
2,487,990
5,116,300
-

December 31, 2010

109,722,975

Issued on exercise of stock options
Issued on sale of shares under Employee Share Purchase Plan
Issued on sale of shares in January 2011
Repurchased under normal course issuer bid
Transfer to additional paid in capital pursuant to normal course issuer bid
Transfer from additional paid-in capital on exercise of options
Tax benefit related to share issuance costs
December 31, 2011

2,599,738
41,800
11,400,000
(527,700)
123,236,813

328,654
151
4,122
20,673
2,109

$

355,709

$

6,086
182
71,992
(2,871)
1,003
3,095
1,410
436,606

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company raised net proceeds of $71,992 (CDN $72,104) (gross proceeds
of $76,181 or CDN $75,240) through the sale of 11,400,000 common shares by way of short form prospectus. The
financing was priced at $6.68 per common share (CDN $6.60 per common share).
During fiscal 2011, the Company paid four quarterly cash dividends totaling CDN $10,428 (2010 – CDN $4,886). The
dividend rate for the quarterly cash dividends was CDN $0.025 per common share. During fiscal 2011, the Company
declared dividends totaling CDN $12,313 (2010 – CDN $6,193).
On December 13, 2011, the Company received regulatory approval to make a normal course issuer bid (“Share Bid”)
through the facilities of the TSX. Under the Share Bid, the Company plans to purchase up to 6,183,347 common shares,
representing up to 5% of the common shares issued and outstanding when the TSX approved the arrangement. The Share
Bid commenced on December 15, 2011 and will not extend beyond March 3, 2012. The Company repurchased 527,700
common shares under the Share Bid during the year ended December 31, 2011 for a total of $2,871.

d) Stock Options
WiLAN has an Option Plan, a DSU plan, an Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and a RSU plan for its directors, employees
and consultants. The current RSU plan calls for settlement only in cash. The Option Plan, the DSU plan and the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan are considered “security based compensation arrangements” for the purposes of the TSX.
The Company is authorized to issue up to an aggregate of 10% of its outstanding common shares under these “security
based compensation arrangements”, with the common shares authorized for issuance under the DSU plan limited to
246,348 and under the Employee Purchase Plan limited to 360,800. In addition, 850,000 options granted to the CEO on
joining the Company in May 2006 were treated as “inducement options” for the purposes of the TSX and we excluded
from the 10% cap. All “inducement options” were exercised as at December 31, 2010.
The options vest at various times ranging from immediate vesting on grant to vesting over a three year period. Options
generally have a six year life.
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Option activity for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was as follows:
Price per Share

December 31, 2009

Number of
Options
7,845,898

Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
December 31, 2010

1,861,222
(2,487,990)
(375,913)
6,843,217

Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
December 31, 2011

4,871,500
(2,599,738)
(292,999)
8,821,980

$

Price Range
0.70
$

6.34

$

3.12
0.70
1.85
0.70

$

4.63
3.28
3.28
4.63

$

5.34
0.72
1.88
0.72

$

7.09
5.01
5.52
7.09

Exercisable Options
Weighted
Average
Number
4,011,929
$
2.08

Weighted
Average
$
2.12

$

4.31
1.69
2.23
2.87

3,185,513

$

2.49

$

5.77
2.30
4.13
4.60

2,657,192

$

3.12

The Company uses the Black-Scholes model for estimating the fair value of options granted, with the following weighted
average assumptions:

Risk free interest rate
Volatility
Expected option life (in years)
Dividend yield
Forfeiture rate

2011
1.9%
55%
3.6
1.2%
8.8%

2010
2.1%
57%
3.0
1.1%
0.0%

The weighted average fair value per option granted during the year ended December 31, 2011 was CDN $2.32
(2010-CDN $1.69).
The intrinsic value of options exercised was $11,019 for the year ended December 31, 2011 (2010 - $5,032). Intrinsic
value is the total value of exercised options based on the price of the Company’s common shares at the time of the
exercise less the proceeds received from the employees to exercise the options.
As of December 31, 2011, there was $9,324 of total unrecognized stock-based compensation costs, net of expected
forfeitures, related to unvested stock-based compensation arrangements granted under the stock option plan. This cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.38 years.
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Details of the outstanding options at December 31, 2011 are as follows:

Range of Exercise
Prices
$
$
1.00
1.01
2.00
2.01
3.00
3.01
4.00
4.01
7.09
$
1.42 $
7.09

Outstanding Options
at December 31, 2011
931,757
1,283,070
136,321
6,470,832
8,821,980

Remaining
Term of Options
in Years
0.00
2.20
3.12
4.62
5.29
4.64

Weighted
Average
$
1.82
2.56
3.40
5.42
$
4.60

Exercisable Options at
December 31, 2011
494,440
1,282,237
41,108
839,407
2,657,192

Weighted
Average
$
1.86
2.56
3.40
4.71
$
3.12

Stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $4,228 (2010 - $1,835). The following
provides a summary of the stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010:

Cost of revenue
Research and development
Marketing, general and administration

$

$

2011
748
737
2,743
4,228

$

$

2010
423
271
1,141
1,835

During the year ended December 31, 2011, 292,999 stock options were cancelled as they related to former employees.

e) Deferred Stock Units
The Company has a Deferred Stock Unit (“DSU”) plan as a tool to assist in the retention of selected employees and
directors and to help conserve the Company’s cash position. Under the DSU plan, DSUs may be awarded and will
become due when the conditions of retention have been met and employment terminated or completed. The value of each
DSU is determined in reference to the Company’s common share price, and the DSU value is payable in either cash or
shares at the Company’s option.
DSUs issued and outstanding as at December 31, 2011 were 73,658 (2010 – 68,808). The liability recorded in respect of
the outstanding DSUs was $427 as at December 31, 2011 (2010 - $448). The change in the liability is recorded as
compensation expense.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, 5,108 DSUs were granted to certain directors in lieu of cash for their
quarterly fees earned during the year ended December 31, 2011.

f) Restricted Share Units
The Company implemented a Restricted Share Unit (“RSU”) plan for certain employees and directors in January 2007.
Under the RSU plan, units are settled in cash based on the market value of WiLAN’s common shares on the dates when
the RSUs vest. The accrued liability and related expense for the RSUs are adjusted to reflect the market value of the
common shares at each balance sheet date.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company granted 342,750 RSUs (2010 – 496,110) and settled 166,845
RSUs (2010 – 3,332). RSUs outstanding as at December 31, 2011 were 556,413 (2010 – 462,120). The liability recorded
in respect of the outstanding RSUs was $1,276 as at December 31, 2011 (2010 - $1,567). The change in the liability is
recorded as compensation expense.
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During the year ended December 31, 2011, 81,612 RSUs (2010 – 33,990) were cancelled as they related to former
employees.

g) Per Share Amounts
The weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in the basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”)
computation was:

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding
Effect of options
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding

2011
122,741,326
2,258,318
124,999,644

2010
103,289,548
97,011,499

The effect of options totaling 1,876,025 for fiscal 2010, were anti-dilutive.

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company is exposed to a number of risks related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates,
collection of accounts receivable, settlement of liabilities and management of cash and cash equivalents.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a licensee or counter-party to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk
consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable and forward foreign exchange
contracts.
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, and short-term investments consist primarily of deposit investments that are
held only with Canadian chartered banks. Management does not expect any counter-parties to fail to meet their
obligations.
The Company's exposure to credit risk with its accounts receivable from licensees is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each licensee. The Company’s licensees are for the most part, manufacturers and distributors of
telecommunications and consumer electronics products primarily located in the United States, Canada, Taiwan, Korea,
Japan, Hong Kong and China. Credit risk from accounts receivable encompasses the default risk of the Company’s
licensees. Prior to entering into licensing agreements with new licensees the Company assesses the risk of default
associated with the particular company. In addition, on an ongoing basis, management monitors the level of accounts
receivable attributable to each licensee and the length of time taken for amounts to be settled and where necessary, takes
appropriate action to follow up on those balances considered overdue. The Company has had no significant bad debts for
any periods presented.
Management does not believe that there is significant credit risk arising from any of the Company's licensees for which
revenue has been recognized. However, should one of the Company's major licensees be unable to settle amounts due,
the impact on the Company could be significant. The maximum exposure to loss arising from accounts receivable is
equal to their total carrying amounts. At December 31, 2011, two licensees accounted for 10% or more of total accounts
receivable (December 31, 2010 – two licensees).
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Financial assets past due
The following table provides information regarding the aging and collectability of the Company’s accounts receivable
balances as at December 31, 2011:
Current
Past due 1 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 60 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Over 91 days past due
Less allowance for doubtful accounts
Total accounts receivable

$

$

485
1,668
7
18
(25)
2,153

The definition of items that are past due is determined by reference to terms agreed with individual licensees. As at the
date of this report, March 9, 2012, approximately $1,673 of past due amounts have been collected. None of the amounts
outstanding have been challenged by the respective licensees and the Company continues to conduct business with them
on an ongoing basis. Accordingly, management has no reason to believe that this balance is not fully collectable in the
future.
The Company reviews financial assets past due on an ongoing basis with the objective of identifying potential matters
which could delay the collection of funds at an early stage. Once items are identified as being past due, contact is made
with the respective company to determine the reason for the delay in payment and to establish an agreement to rectify the
breach of contractual terms. At December 31, 2011, the Company had a provision for doubtful accounts of $25 (2010-$5)
which was made against accounts receivable where collection efforts to date have been unsuccessful.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it has sufficient liquidity available to meet its liabilities
when due.
At December 31, 2011, the Company had cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of $433,710, credit
facilities of $8,000 and accounts receivable of $2,153 available to meet its obligations.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk to the Company that the fair value of future cash flows from its financial instruments will fluctuate
due to changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Market risk arises as a result of the Company
generating revenues in foreign currencies.

Interest rate risk
The only financial instruments that expose the Company to interest rate risk are its cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments. The Company’s objectives of managing its cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments
are to ensure sufficient funds are maintained on hand at all times to meet day to day requirements and to place any
amounts which are considered in excess of day to day requirements on short-term deposit with the Company's banks so
that they earn interest. When placing amounts of cash and cash equivalents into short-term investments, the Company
only places investments with Canadian chartered banks and ensures that access to the amounts placed can be obtained on
short-notice.
Wi-LAN Inc. 2011 Annual Report

57

NOTES

Wi-LAN Inc.
NOTES TO AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share amounts, unless otherwise stated)

Currency risk
A portion of WiLAN’s revenues and operating expenses are denominated in Canadian dollars. Because the Company
reports its financial performance in US dollars, WiLAN’s operating results are subject to changes in the exchange rate of
the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar. Any decrease in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar
has an unfavourable impact on Canadian denominated revenues and a favourable impact on Canadian denominated
operating expenses. Recently, decreases in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar have had a positive
impact on WiLAN’s Canadian dollar denominated operating expenses. Approximately 69% of the Company’s cash and
cash equivalents and short term investments, and all of the Debentures are denominated in Canadian dollars and are
subject to changes in the exchange rate of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar. The recent decreases in the value
of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar have had a negative impact on WiLAN’s Canadian dollar denominated
cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, and a positive impact on its Canadian dollar denominated Debentures.
The Company may manage the risk associated with foreign exchange rate fluctuations by, from time to time, entering
into forward foreign exchange contracts and engaging in other hedging strategies. To the extent that WiLAN engages in
risk management activities related to foreign exchange rates, it may be subject to credit risks associated with the
counterparties with whom it contracts.
The Company’s objective in obtaining forward foreign exchange contracts is to manage its risk and exposure to currency
rate fluctuations related primarily to future cash inflows and outflows of Canadian dollars and secures the Company’s
profitability on anticipated future cash flows. The Company does not use forward foreign exchange contracts for
speculative or trading purposes.

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
a) Litigation
The Company, in the course of its normal operations, is subject to claims, lawsuits and contingencies. Accruals are made
in instances where it is probable that liabilities may be incurred and where such liabilities can be reasonably estimated.
Although it is possible that liabilities may be incurred in instances for which no accruals have been made, WiLAN has no
reason to believe that the ultimate outcome of these matters would have a significant impact on its consolidated financial
position. The significant legal proceedings in which the Company is involved are summarized below.
In September 2002, WiLAN, its former Chairman and Wi-Com Technologies Inc. (a private Alberta company), among
others, were served with two statements of claim alleging the defendants are liable for failing to deliver certain share
certificates in a timely manner to the claimants. The claimants are former shareholders of Wi-Com Technologies Inc. The
Company maintains that it has defences to these claims and does not believe that it will ultimately be found
liable. WiLAN is defending these actions, has filed a statement of defence and has also filed a counterclaim against the
claimants.
In September, 2011, WiLAN, its subsidiary Gladios IP Inc. (“Gladios”) and one of its officers, Paul Lerner, were sued by
General Patent Corporation (“GPC”) before the SDNY Court alleging, among other things, breach of contract, fraud and
misappropriation of trade secrets, by WiLAN with respect to its proposed acquisition of GPC. WiLAN, Gladios and
Mr. Lerner deny any liability to GPC in this matter. At a motion brought by GPC for a preliminary injunction to enjoin
Mr. Lerner from working for WiLAN or Gladios, which motion was joined with a trial on whether or not GPC had any
trade secrets to be a subject of this matter, U.S. District Court Judge Keenan of the SDNY Court denied the motion and
determined that GPC had no such trade secrets. GPC has appealed this decision to the United States Court of Appeal for
the Second Circuit, against which appeal WiLAN, Gladios and Mr. Lerner are defending. While the appeal is continuing,
the matter in chief is proceeding towards its discovery phase and the filing of summary judgment motions.
Management has evaluated the likelihood of an unfavourable outcome and determined that no amount should be accrued
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with respect to each of these matters.

b) Operating lease
The Company has lease agreements for office space and equipment with terms extending to 2016. The aggregate
minimum annual lease payments under these agreements are as follows:

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016 and thereafter

$

$

Amount
585
564
504
481
241
2,375

c) Other
As partial consideration for patents acquired in September 2007, the Company agreed to future additional payments, not
to exceed $4,000, contingent upon the ongoing enforceability of the patents and based on revenues produced from
licensing or selling the patents. To date, there have been no licensing revenues produced from these patents and no
amounts have been accrued to this counterparty in respect of this commitment.
In certain of the Company’s patent infringement litigations the Company has been represented by the law firm of
McKool Smith (“McKools”). Pursuant to the Company’s engagement with McKools, in consideration for a discount on
fees, the Company has agreed to pay McKools a success fee based on achieving certain minimum financial measures.
Upon achieving these financial measures, McKools will be entitled to receive a percentage of the proceeds actually
received from these litigations up to a maximum of $27,986. Pursuant to the license agreements and settlements relating
to these litigations signed to date, the Company expects to collect proceeds from these litigations over the next five years.
Should the Company collect these amounts as contemplated in the agreements, McKools will be entitled to the entire
success fee. As at the December 31, 2011, the Company accrued the full, undiscounted amount of the success fee
obligation. The current and long term portion of this liability is reflected as follows:

Success fee obligation
Current portion

As at December 31,
2011
$
27,986
(12,774)
$
15,212

The current portion of the success fee obligation is recorded in accrued legal costs (see Note 9).

13. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES
Included in accrued liabilities are restructuring costs of nil as at December 31, 2011 ($158 as at December 31, 2010).
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company completed the remaining payments related to the workforce
reduction undertaken in July 2010.
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NOTES

Wi-LAN Inc.
NOTES TO AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share amounts, unless otherwise stated)

14. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Net interest received in cash, included in operations
Taxes paid
Patents acquired under deferred financing arrangement

Wi-LAN Inc. 2011 Annual Report

$

2011
1,994
2,746
7,647

$

2010
858
2,886
-
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